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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES
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603-271:4501 1-800-8S2-3345 Ext 4501

Fax: 603-271-4827 TOO Access: 1-800-735-2964

www.dhbs.ah.{Ov

October 21. 2020

His Excellency. Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord. New Hampshire 03301

INFORMATIONAL ITEM

Pursuant to RSA 4:45. RSA 21-P:43, and Section 4 of Executive Order 2020-04 as
extended by Executive Orders 2020-05, 2020-08.2020-09.2020-10. 2020-14, 2020-15, 2020-16.
2020-17.2020-18, and 2020-20, Governor Sununu has authorized the Department of Health and
Human Services. Division of Public Health Sen/Ices, to enter Into a Retroactive, Sole Source
contract with Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital (VC#177173), Lebanon, NH, in the amount of
$145,000, to conduct hospital-based COVID-19 community testing and testing-related activities,
with the option to renew for up to one (1) additional year, effective retroactive to September 1,
2020, through December 1, 2020.100% Federal Funds.

Funds are available in the following account for State Fiscal Year 2021, with the authority
to adjust budget line items within the price limitation through the Budget Office, if needed and
justified.

05-095-090-903010-19010000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN

SVCS DEPT OF, HHS: PUBLIC HEALTH DIVISION, BUREAU OF LABORATORY SERVICES.
ELC CARES COVID-19

State

Fiscal Year

Class /

Account
Class Title Job Number Total Amount

2021 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90183518 $145,000

Total $145,000

EXPLANATION

This contract is Retroactive because more time was needed to negotiate and finalize the
scope of the work prior to the Contractor accepting the terms of the agreement. This contract is
Sole Source because the Department, in the interest of the public's health and safety, Identified
hospitals with catchment areas throughout New Hampshire and capacity to immediately begin
conducting community COVID-19 testing and testing-related activities. The Contractor is uniquely
qualified to provide COVID-19 testing to individuals who reside within the hospftal's catchment
area or local community.

The Contractor Is conducting COVID-19 specimen collection and testing for individuals
vi4io reside within each hospital's catchment area or local community, regardless of the
individuals' prior affiliations with the hospital. The Contractor Is testing individuals who have

The Deparlment of Health and Human Services'Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.
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symptoms of COVID-19. who are pre-symptomatic, or asymptomatic at the request of the
individuals to be tested or the Department. The Contractor will also utilize various communication
methods, including the hospitals' websites, newsletters, and social media platforms, to inform the
local community members how and when they can access the services and the location of the
specimen collection sites.

The exact number of residents of the State of New Hampshire served from September 1,
2020, to December 1. 2020. will depend on the trajectory of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Department will monitor contracted services by requiring the Contractor to report:

•  Number of persons who received COVID-19 testing.

•  Numt>er of persons assisted with enrollment in the Medicaid COVID-19 Testing
benefit or other assistance program virtio received COVID-19 testing.

•  Number of persons for whom race and/or ethnicity is documented.

• Allowable expenses incurred during the duration of the contract.

As referenced in Exhibit A Revisions to Standard Contract Provisions. Section 1,
Revisions to Form P-37, General Provisions. Subsection 1.2., Paragraph 3.3 of the attached
contracts, the parties have the option to extend the agreements for up to one (1) additional year,
contingent upon satisfactory delivery of services, available funding, agreement of the parties, and
appropriate State approval.

Areas served: Statewide

Source of Funds: 100% Federal Funds. CFDA #93.323. FAIN #NU50CK000522

In the event that the Federal Funds become no longer available. General Funds will not
be requested to support this program.

Respectfully submitted,

.ori A. Shibinette

Commissioner



FORM NUMBCR P-37 (verilon 12/11/2019)

SubJect:_Hospital-Based COVID-19 Community Testing (SS-2021-DPHS-04-HOSPI-22)

Notice; This agreecnent and ail of its attachments shall become public upon submission to Oovemor and
Executive dcuncil for approval. Any Information that is private, confidential or proprietaiy must
be clearly identified to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.

AGREEMENT

The State ofNew Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows;

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. JDENTIPICATION.

].l State Agency Name

New HampshlreOeparlment of Health and Hunan Services

1.2 State Agency Address

129 Pleasant Street

Concord. NH 03301-3857

1.3 Contractor NattM

Alice Peck Day Memoiial Hospital

].4 Contractor Address

10 Alice Peek Day Drive
Lebanon, NH 03766

].S Contractor Phone

Number

(603)448-3121

1.6 Account Number

05-095-090-903010-

19010000

1.7 Completion Date

December 1,2020

1.8 Price Limitation

$145,000

1.9 Contracting Officer for State Agency

Nathan D. White, Director

1.10 State Agency Telephone Number

(603)271-9631

1.11 Contractor Signature

^  Date:

1.12 Name and Title ofContractor Signatory

y re-S &. <^<;L C. £ O
1.13 State Agency Signature 1.14 NauM end Title ofState Agency Signatory

Uifi Shibintl:l<^(]o/»vy\ic4iuid^
t^l5 ApprovalbytheN.RDcpaitmcntofAdmlnjstratlon.DivisioQofPersoaael (ffapplicable)

By; Director, On;

1.16 Approval by the Attorney Qeneral (Form, Substance and Execution) (if appficahle)

On:

1.17 Approval by the Oovemor and Bxeouthrc Council (^app//cob/e)

O&C Item number: O&C Meeting Date;
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2. .SERVrCES TO BE PERFORMED. The Slate of New
Hampshire, acting through the agency identified in block I.I
("Stale"), engages contractor identified in block 1.3
("Contractor") to perform, and the Contractor shall perform, the
work or sale of goods, or both, identified and more particularly
described in the attached EXI-HBIT B which is incorporated
herein by reference ("Services").

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES.
3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, and .subject to the approval of the Governor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire, if applicable,
this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties hereunder, shall
become effective on the date the Governor and Executive
Council approve this Agreement as indicated in block 1.17,
unless no such approval is required, in which case the Agreement
shall become effective on the date the Agreement is signed by
the State Agency as shown in block 1.13 ("Effective Date").
3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior to the
Effective Date, all Services performed by the Contractor prior to
the Effective Date shall be performed at the sole risk of the
Contractor, and in the event that this Agreement does not become
effective, the State shall have no liability to the Contractor,
including without limitation, any obligation to pay the
Contractor for any costs incurred or Services performed.
Contractor must complete all Services by the Completion Date
specified in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, all obligations of the State hereunder, including,
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder, are
contingent upon the availability and continued appropriation of
fimds affected by any state or federal legislative or executive
action that reduce.s, eliminates or otherwise modifies the
appropriation or availability of funding for this Agreement and
the Scope for Services provided in EXHIBIT B, in whole or in
part. In no event shall the State be liable for any payments
hereunder in excess of such available appropriated ftinds. In the
event of a reduction or termination of appropriated llinds, the
State shall have the right to withhold payment until such funds
become available, if ever, and shall have the right to reduce or
terminate the Services under this Agreement immediately upon
giving the Contractor notice of such reduction or termination.
The State shall not be required to transfer funds from any other
account or source to the Account identified in block 1.6 in the
event funds in that Account are reduced or unavailable.

5. CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/
PAYMENT.

5.1 The contract price, method of payment, and terms of payment
are identified and more particularly described in EXHIBIT C
which is incorporated herein by reference.
5.2 The payment by the State of the contract price shall be the
only and the complete reimbursement to the Contractor for all
expenses, of whatever nature incurred by the Contractor in the
performance hereof, and shall be the only and the complete

compensation to the Contractor for the Services. The State shall
have no liability to the Contractor other than the contract price.
5.3 The State reserves the right to offset from any amounts
otheiwise payable to the Contractor under this Agreement those
liquidated amounts required or permitted by N.H. RSA 80:7
through RSA 80:7-c or any other provision of law.
5.4 Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the
contrary, and notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in no
event shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually made
hereunder, exceed the Price Limitation set forth in block 1.8.

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS

AND REGULATIONS/ EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY.

6.1 In connection with the performance of the Services, the
Contractor shall comply with all applicable statutes, laws,
regulations, and orders of federal, state, county or municipal
authorities which impose any obligation or duty upon the
Contractor, including, but not limited to, civil rights and equal
employment opportunity laws. In addition, if this Agreement is
ftinded in any part by monies of the United Slates, the Contractor
shall comply with all federal executive orders, rules, regulations
and statutes, and with any rules, regulations and guidelines as the
State or the United States issue to implement these regulations.
The Contractor shall also comply with all applicable intellectual
property laws.
6.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Contractor shall not
discriminate against employees or applicants for employment
because of race, color, religion, creed, age, sex, handicap, sexual
orientation, or national origin and will take afTirmativc action to
prevent such discrimination.
6.3. The Contractor agrees to permit the State or United States
access to any of the Contractor's books, records and accounts for
the purpose of ascertaining compliance with all rules, regulations
and orders, and the covenants, terms and conditions of this
Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL.

7.1 The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all personnel
necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor warrants that
all personnel engaged in the Services shall be qualified to
perform the Services, and shall be properly licensed and
otherwise authorized to do so under all applicable laws.
7.2 Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the term of
this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the
Completion Date in block 1.7, the Contractor shall not hire, and
shall not permit any subcontractor or other person, firm or
corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined effort to
perform the Services to hire, any person who is a State employee
or official, who is materially involved in the procurement,
administration or performance of this Agreement. This
provision shall survive termination of this Agreement.
7.3 The Contracting Officer specified in block 1.9, or his or her
successor, shall be the State's raprcscntative. In the event of any
dispute concerning the interpretation of this Agreement, the
Contracting Officer's decision shall be final for the State.
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8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES.

8.1 Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the
Contractor shall constitute an event of default hereundcr ("Event
of Default"):
8.1.1 failure to perform the Services satisfactorily or on
schedule;

8.1.2 failure to submit any report required hereundcr; and/or
8.1.3 failure to perform any other covenant, term or condition of
this Agreement.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the Stale may
take any one, or more, or all, of the following actions:
8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and requiring it to be remedied within, In the absence of
a greater or lesser specification of time, thirty (30) days from the
date of the notice; and if the Event of Default is not timely cured,
terminate this Agreement, effective two (2) days after giving the
Contractor notice of termination;
8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and suspending all payments to be made under this
Agreement and ordering that the portion of the contract price
which would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the
period from the date of such notice until such time as the State
determines that the Contractor has cured the Event of Default

shall never be paid to the Contractor;
8.2.3 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and set off against any other obligations the State may
owe to the Contractor any damages the State suffers by reason of
any Event of Default; and/or
8.2.4 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default, treat the Agreement as breached, terminate the
Agreement and pursue any of its remedies at law or in equity, or
both.

8.3. No failure by the State to enforce any provisions hereof after
any Event of Default shall be deemed a waiver of its rights with
regard to that Event of Default, of any subsequent Event of
Default. No express failure to enforce any Event of Default shall
be deemed a waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and
all of the provisions hereof upon any further or other Event of
Default on the part of the Contractor.

9. TERMINATION.

9.1 Notwithstanding paragraph 8, the State may, at its sole
discretion, terminate the Agreement for any reason, in whole or
in part, by thirty (30) days written notice to the Contractor that
the State is exercising its option to terminate the Agreement.
9.2 In the event of an early termination of this Agreement for
any reason other than the completion of the Services, the
Contractor shall, at the State's discretion, deliver to tlic
Contracting Officer, not later than fifteen (15) days after the date
of termination, a report ("Termination Report") describing in
detail all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to
and including the date of termination. The form, subject matter,
content, and number of copies of the Termination Report shall
be identical to those of any Final Report described in the attached
EXiilDlT B. In addition, at the State's discretion, the Contractor
shall, within 15 days of notice of early tcnnination, develop and
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submit to the State a Transition Plan for services under the

Agreement.

10. DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIALITY/

PRESERVATION.

10.1 As used in this Agreement, the word "data" shall mean all
information and things developed or obtained during the
performance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports,
files, formulae, surveys, maps, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses, graphic
representations, computer programs, computer printouts, notes,
letters, memoranda, papers, and documents, all whether
finished or unfinished.

10.2 All data and any property which has been received from
the State or purchased with funds provided for that purpose
under this Agreement, shall be the propeity of the Slate, and
shall be returned to the State upon demand or upon termination
of this Agreement for any reason.
10.3 Confidentiality of data shall be governed by N.H. RSA
chapter 91 -A or other existing law. Disclosure of data requires
prior written approval of the State.

11. CON'i RACTOR'S RELA'l'ION TO THE STATE. In the

performance of this Agreement the Contractor is in all respects
an independent contractor, and is neither an agent nor an
employee of the Stale. Neither the Contractor nor any of its
officers, employees, agents or members shall have authority to
bind the State or receive any benefits, workers' compensation or
other emoluments provided by the State to ils employees.

12. ASSlGNMENT/DELEGATION/SUBCONTRACrS.

12.1 The Contractor shall not assign, or otherwise transfer any
interest in this Agreement without the prior written notice, which
shall be provided to the State at least fifteen (15) days prior to
the assignment, and a written consent of the State. For purposes
of this paragraph, a Change of Control shall constitute
assignment. "Change of Control" means (a) merger,
consolidation, or a transaction or series of related transactions in
which a third party, together with its affiliates, becomes the
direct or indirect owner of fifty percent (50%) or more of the
voting shares or similar equity interests, or combined voting
power of the Contractor, or (b) the sale of all or substantially all
of the assets of the Contractor.

12.2 None of the Services shall be subcontracted by the
Contractor without prior written notice and consent of the State.
The State is entitled to copies of all subcontracts and assignment
agreements and shall not be bound by any provisions contained
in a subcontract or an assignment agreement to which it is not a
party.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. Unless otherwise exempted by law,
the Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the State, its
officers and employees, from and against any and all claims,
liabilities and costs for any personal injury or property damages,
patent or copyright infringement, or other claims asserted against
the State, its officers or employees, which arise out of (or which
may be claimed to arise out of) the acts or omission of the
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Contractor, or subcontractors, including but not limited to the
negligence, reckless or intentional conduct. The State shall not
be liable for any costs incurred by the Contractor arising under
this paragraph 13. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein
contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of the sovereign
immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby reserved to the
State. This covenant in paragraph 13 shall survive the
termination of this Agreement.

14. INSURANCE.

14.1 The Contractor shall, at its sole expense, obtain and
continuously maintain in force, and shall require any
subcontractor or assignee to obtain and maintain in force, the
following insurance:
14.1.1 commercial general liability insurance against all claims
of bodily injury, death or property damage, in amounts of not
less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate
or excess; and

14.1.2 special cause of loss coverage form covering all property
subject to subparagraph 10.2 herein, in an amount not less than
80% of the whole replacement value of the property.
14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall be
on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the State
of New Hampshire by the N.H. Depailmcnt^of Insurance, and
issued by insurers licensed in the State ofNew Hampshire.
14.3 The Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer
identified in bloek 1.9, or his or her successor, a cenificate(s) of
insurance for all insurance required under this Agreement.
Contractor shall also furnish to the Contracting Officer identified
in block 1.9, or his or her successor, ccrtificate(s) of insurance
for all rcnewal(s) of insurance required under this Agreement no
Inter than ten (10) days prior to the expiration date of each
insurance policy. The certificate(s) of insurance and any
renewals thereof shall be attached and are incorporated herein by
reference.

15. WORKERS' COMPENSATION.

15.1 By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees, certifies
and warrants that the Contractor is in compliance with or exempt
from, the requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281 -A ("Workers'
Compensation ").
15.2 To the extent the Contractor is subject to the requirements
of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A, Contractor shall maintain, and
require any subcontractor or assignee to secure and maintain,
payment of Workers' Compensation in connection with
activities which the person proposes to undertake pursuant to this
Agreement. The Contractor shall furnish the Contracting OfTiccr
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, proof of Workers'
Compensation in the manner described in N.H. RSA .chapter
281-A and any applicable rcnewal(s) thereof, which shall be
attached and arc incorporated herein by reference. The State
shall not be responsible for payment of any Workers'
Compensation premiums or for any other claim or benefit for
Contractor, or any subcontractor or employee of Contractor,
which might arise under applicable Stale of New Hampshire
Workers' Compensation laws in connection with the
performance of the Services under this Agreement.

16. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party
shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the time
of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United States
Post Office addressed to the parties at the addresses given in
blocks 1.2 and 1.4, herein.

17. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, waived
or discharged only by an instrument in writing signed by the
parties hereto and only afler approval of such amendment,
waiver or discharge by the Governor and Executive Council of
the Stale ofNew Hampshire unless no such approval is required
under the circumstances pursuant to State law, rule or policy.

18. CHOICE OF LAW AND FORUM. This Agreement shall
be governed, interpreted and construed in accordance with the
laws of the State ofNew Hampshire, and is binding upon and
inures to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors
and assigns. The wording used in this Agreement is the wording
chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule
of construction shall be applied against or in favor of any party.
Any actions arising out of this Agreement shall be brought and
maintained in New Hampshire Superior Court which shall have
exclusive jurisdiction thereof.

19. CONFLICTING TERMS. In the event of a conflict
between the terms of this P-37 form (as modified in EXITIBIT
A) and/or attachments and amendment thereof, the tcnns of the
P-37 (as modified in EXHIBIT A) shall control.

20. THIRD PARTIES. The parties hereto do not intend to
benefit any third parties and this Agreement shall not be
construed to confer any such benefit.

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement arc
for reference purposes only, and the words contained therein
shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or aid in the
interpretation, construction or meaning of the provisions of this
Agreement.

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional or modifying
provisions set forth in the attached EXHIBIT A are incorporated
herein by reference.

23. SEVERABILITV. Inlheevenlanyofthcprovisionsofthis
Agreement are held by a court of competent Jurisdiction to be
contrary to any state or federal law, the remaining provisions of
this Agreement will remain in full force and effect.

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may be
executed in a number of counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original, constitutes the entire agreement and
understanding between the parties, and supersedes a|l prior
agreements and understandings with respect to the subject matter
hereof.
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Hospital-Based COVID-19 Community Testing

EXHIBIT A

REVISIONS TO STANDARD CONTRACT PROVISIONS

1. Revisions to Form P-37, General Provisions

1.1. Paragraph 3, Subparagraph 3.1, Effective Date/Completion of Services, is
amended as follows:

3.1. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, and
subject to the approval of the Governor of the State of New Hampshire,
issued under the Executive Order 2020-04 and any extensions thereof,
this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties hereunder, shall become
effective on September 1, 2020. ("Effective Date").

1.2. Paragraph 3, Effective Date/Completion of Services, is amended by adding
subparagraph 3.3 as follows:

3.3. The parties may extend the Agreement for up to one (1) additional year
from the Completion Date, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of
services, available funding, agreement of the parties, and required

■  governmental approval.

1.3. Paragraph 9, Termination, is deleted in its entirety and replaced as follows:

9.1 Notwithstanding paragraph 8, the State may, at its sole discretion,
terminate the Agreement for any reason, in whole or in part, by thirty
(30) days written notice to the Contractor that the State is exercising its
option to terminate the Agreement.

9.2. The Contractor may terminate the Agreement by providing the State
with thirty (30) days advance written notice if the State fails to pay the
undisputed amount of any expense report submitted by Contractor
pursuant to Exhibit C within thirty (30) days after the date of the report;
however, upon receipt of such notification the State has an additional
twenty (20) days to make payment of undisputed amounts to avoid
termination. In addition, the Contractor may terminate this Agreement
by providing the State with thirty (30) days advance written notice if it
makes a good faith determination that either (i) the fulfillment of its
obligations under the Agreement has been or is reasonably likely to be
adversely impacted by a shortage of supplies or disruption to the supply
chain; or (ii) the continued performance of services hereunder would
adversely impact the ability of the Contractor to meet the testing needs
of its patients (each an "Adverse Impact"). Promptly following
Contractor's submission of such notice of termination, the Parties shall
work together in good faith with the goal of mutually agreeing upon
modifications to the scope of services and/or other obligations of
Contractor under the Agreement to mitigate the Adverse Impact upon
the Contractor during the notification period ("Workaround Plan");

Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospllal Exhibit A Contractor Initials ^6-^
SS-2021-DPHS-04-HOSPI-22 Page 1 of 2 Date.



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Hospital-Based COVID-19 Community Testing

EXHIBIT A

provided, however, that if the Parties are unable to mutually agree on a
Workaround Plan within five (5) business days after Contractor provides
written notice of termination to the Department as a result of an Adverse
Impact, the Contractor may. upon written notice to the Department,
decrease the number of specimens.'collected and tested hereunder for
the remainder of the notice period, as determined by Contractor in its
reasonable discretion.

9.'3 In the event of an early termination of this Agreement for any reason
other than the completion of the Services, the Contractor shall, at the
State's discretion, deliver to the Contracting Officer, not later than
fifteen (15) days after the date of termination, a report ("Termination
Report") describing In detail all Services performed; and the contract
price earned, to and including the date of termination. The form,
subject matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination
Report shall be identical to those of any Final Report described in the
attached EXHIBIT B. In addition, at the. State's discretion, the
Contractor shall, within 15 days of notice of early termination, develop
and submit to the State a Transition Plan for services under the

Agreement.

1.4. Paragraph 12, Subparagraph 12.3, Assignment/Delegation/Subcontracts, is
amended as follows:

12.3. Subcontractors are subject to the same contractual conditions as the
Contractor and the Contractor is responsible to ensure subcontractor
compliance with those conditions. The Contractor shall have written
agreements with all subcontractors, specifying the work to be performed
and how corrective action shall be managed if the subcontractor's
performance is inadequate. The Contractor shall manage the
subcontractor's performance on an ongoing basis and take corrective
action as necessary. The Contractor shall annually provide the State with
a list of all subcontractors provided for under this Agreement and notify
the State of any inadequate subcontractor performance.

1.5. Paragraph 14, Subparagraph 14.2, Insurance, is amended as follows:

14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall be on policy
forms and endorsements approved for use in the State of New
Hampshire by the N.H. Department of Insurance.

Alice Peck Day Memorial Mospiial Exhibit A Contraclor Inlllais
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
HOSPITAL-BASED COVID-19 COMMUNITY TESTING

EXHIBIT B

Scope of Services

1. Statement of Work

1.1. For the purposes of this agreement, any references to days shall mean
calendar days.

1.2. Contractor shall conduct specimen collection and testing for SARS-CoV-2 in
an outpatient setting for pre-procedural hospital patients and individuals
referred by primary care providers within the Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
system no later than September 1, 2020.

1.3. The Contractor shall begin conducting specimen collection and testing for
SARS-CoV-2 in an outpatient setting as capacity allows to meet the defined
community demand (Monday to Friday) during the term of the Agreement for
New Hampshire residents residing within the Lebanon Health Care Service
Area, as defined in Contractor's U.S. Department of Treasury. Internal
Revenue Service Form 990 (Return of Organization Exempt from Income Tax),
regardless of individuals' prior affiliations with the Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
system no later than November 1, 2020.

1.4. The Contractor shall use commercially reasonable efforts to conduct specimen
collection and testing for patients who have symptoms of COVlD-19 or who are
pre-symptomatic or asymptomatic at the request of:

1.4.1. The individual to be tested; or

1.4.2. The Department of Health and Human Services (Department) Division
of Public Health Services (DPHS).

1.5. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Contractor reserves the right to limit specimen
collection and testing services hereunder, from time to time, to ensure that its
capacity remains sufficient to meet the needs of its patients and/or defined
community demand.

1.6. The Contractor shall not require an office or telemedicine visit for asymptomatic
patients in order for patients to receive COVID-19 testing.

1.7. In the event of a significant increase in community transmission of COVID-19,
the Contractor shall not be responsible for meeting significantly increased
levels of testing and may request the Department to provide additional testing
capacity.

1.8. The Contractor shall determine the appropriate venue and physical location for
specimen collection, which may include, but is not limited to:

1.8.1. An existing physical location.

1.8.2. A temporary drive-through location.

1.8.3. A drive-up facility.

Alice Peck Day Memcrlal HospUal Exhibit B Contractor Initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
HOSPITAL-BASED COVID-19 COMMUNITY TESTING

EXHIBIT B

1.9. The Contractor shall request a waiver, if necessary, from the Department's
Bureau of Health Facilities Administration for a temporary drive-through
location or drive-up facility.

1.10. The Contractor shall determine the appropriate number of days per week and
the duration of time per day to perform community specimen collection for
C0\/ID-19 testing to meet the needs of the defined community demand and
communicate the hours of operation to the Department.

1.11. The Contractor shall ensure the collection, handling, processing and testing of
specimens comply with guidelines issued by the Centers for Disease Control
and Prevention (CDC), available at https://wvw.cdc.qov/coronavirus/2019-
nCoV/lab/ouidelines-clinical-specimens.html and by the laboratory used for
processing specimens.

1.12. The Contractor shall obtain patient consent, prior to collection of specimens,
authorizing testing at the laboratory and reporting to the ordering medical
provider, the Department, and any other individual or entity designated to
receive the test results.

1.13. The Contractor shall use commercially reasonable efforts to identify any
communication access needs to ensure needed language assistance is
provided, which may include, but is not limited to:

1.13.1. Over-the-phone interpretation of spoken languages.

1.13.2. American Sign Language interpreters with at least forty-eight (48)
hours advance notice.

1.14. The Contractor shall ensure communication and language assistance is
provided to individuals, as appropriate and needed, to ensure the validity of any
consent by utilizing translated consent forms and/or interpreters.

1.15. The Contractor shall ensure all personnel collecting, handling, processing and
transporting specimens are trained to safeguard the confidentiality of the
patient and protected health information (PHI), as defined in the Health
Information Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).

■  1.16. The Contractor shall ensure the secure and confidential transporting of
specimens to the laboratory.

1.17. The Contractor shall ensure the ordering provider for each COVID-19 test is a
licensed medical provider to the extent applicable.

1.18. The Contractor shall notify the licensed medical provider ordering a COVID-19
test for a patient of testing results received from the laboratory in a timely
manner. The Contractor shall ensure:

1.18.1. Patients with positive results confirming the diagnosis of COVID-19 are
informed:

Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital Exhibit B Contractor Initials
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1.18.1.1. By telephone or other electronic method.

1.18.1.2. By first-class U.S. mail, if telephone or other electronic
method is unsuccessful

1.18.2. Patients with negative results are informed of test results in a method
determined by the Contractor.

1.19. The Contractor shall utilize existing communication methods to inform the local
community of the availability of outpatient COVID-19 testing, which may
include, but are not limited to:

1.19.1. The hospital's website.

1.19.2. Hospital newsletters.

1.19.3. Social media platforms.

1.20. The Contractor shall ensure published information includes how and when
patients can access the services and the location of the specimen collection
site.

1.21. The Contractor shall ensure any marketing materials abide by existing
requirements for communication access, including but not limited to:

1.21.1. Vital and significant materials should be made available in additional
languages, as appropriate, and must be translated by qualified,
competent translation providers, as follows:

1.21.1.1. Statewide, only Spanish meets the criteria for translation.

1.21.1.2. Translation is required for languages depending on
factors including the number and proportion of LEP
persons- served or likely to seek services in the
Contractor's service areas, and the frequency with which
LEP individuals come into contact with the Contractor's

programs, activities and services. .

1.21.1.3. Notification on all materials of the availability of free
communication access and language assistance for any
individuals who may require it.

1.21.1.4. AH materials have a phone number to call for further
information, ensuring staff answering that phone number
shall have access to over-the-phone interpretation to
assist callers who need spoken language interpretation.

1.22. The Contractor shall provide communication and language assistance at the
hospital to assist individuals accessing COVID-19 testing with communication
access ■ needs, including individuals with limited English proficiency, or
individuals who are deaf or have hearing loss.
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1.23. As of the start date for specimen collection and testing services pursuant to
Paragraph 1.3 above, the Contractor shall begin to conduct outreach to
vulnerable populations and minority populations in the hospital catchment area
or local community, including notifying partner organizations who work with
these populations about the availability of COVID-19 testing.

1.24. The Contractor shall require the laboratory to report both positive and negative
test results to the Division of Public Health Services through the Electronic
Laboratory Reporting (ELR) system, or ensure the laboratory used for
processing specimens and conducting testing reports both positive and
negative results to the Division of Public Health Services through the ELR
system.

1.25. The Contractor shall require the laboratory to report all positive cases of
COVID-19 with complete case information by fax to (603) 271-0545 to the
Division of Public Health Services using the New Hampshire Confidential
COVID-19 Case Report Form available at:
https://www.dhhs.nh.Qov/dphs/cdcs/covid19/covid19-reDortinq-form.pdf.

1.26. The Contractor shall use commercially reasonable efforts to: (a) notify patients
who are uninsured or do not have full coverage benefits for COVID-19 testing
that New Hampshire Medicaid has established a COVID-19 Testing Benefit that
may pay for testing and diagnosisof COVlD-19 for persons who are not already
a Medicaid beneficiary and do not have full coverage for COVID-19 testing and
diagnosis: and (b) assist patients in completing the application available at
https://nheasv.nh.aov.

2. Exhibits Incorporated/Confidential Data

2.1. The Contractor shall use and disclose-^Protected Health Information in
compliance with the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information (Privacy Rule) (45 CFR Parts 160 and 164) under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996.

2.2. The Contractor shall comply with all Exhibits D through H and Exhibits J
through K, which are attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

2.3. The Contractor's Use and Responsibilities for Confidential Information are as
follows.

2.3.1. The Contractor agrees to use. disclose, maintain, or transmit
Confidential Data from Providers as required, specifically authorized, or
permitted under the Contract or this Agreement. Further, the Contractor,
including but not limited to all its directors, officers, employees, and
agents, agrees not to use, disclose, maintain, or transmit PHI in any
manner that would constitute a violation of the Privacy and Security
Rules. The Contractor shall provide Confidential Information as required
by the Contract, RSA 141-C:7, 141-C:9, RSA 141-C:10, and in a form
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required by He-P 301.03 and the "New Hampshire Local Implementation
Guide for Electronic Laboratory Reporting for Communicable Disease
and Lead Test Results Using HL7 2.5.1 Version 4.0 (5/23/2016), found
at: httDs://www.dhhs.nh.qov/dDhs/bphsi/documents/elrquide.pdf.

2.3.2. The Contractor shall transmit Confidential Information to the Division of
Public Health Services by means of a secure file transport protocol
(sFTP) provided by the Department and agreed to by the parties and
approved by the Department's Information Security Officer.

2.3.3. The Contractor shall transmit the Confidential Information to the Division
of Public Health Services as required by statute and this Agreement,
namely:

2.3.3.1. All test results, including but not limited to positive and negative
results, shall be reported electronically via electronic laboratory
reporting procedures, also referred to as "ELR," as noted
above.

2.4. s necessary, the Contractor agrees to comply with any request to correct or
complete the data once transmitted to the Division of Public Health Services.

2.5. The Contractor agrees that the data submitted shall be the "minimum
necessary" to carry out the stated use of the data, as defined in the HIPAA
Privacy Rule and in accordance with all applicable confidentiality laws.

2.6. The parties agree that this Agreement shall be construed in accordance the
terms of Contract and governed by the laws of the State of New Hampshire. ,

2.7. The Contractor and the Department agree to negotiate an amendment to
this Agreement as needed to address a Contract amendment, or any
changes in policy issues, fiscal issues, information security, and other
specific safeguards required for maintaining confidentiality of the data.

3. Reporting Requirements

3.1. The Contractor shall submit monthly reports to the Department showing that
the public is able to access COVID-19 testing, including, but not limited to:

3.1.1. Number of persons who received COVID-19 testing.

3.1.2. Number of persons assisted with enrollment in the Medicaid COVID-19
Testing benefit or other assistance program who received COVID-19
testing.

3.1.3. Number of persons for whom race and/or ethnicity is documented.

3.2. The Contractor shall use commercially reasonable efforts to document race
and/or ethnicity demographic identifiers for the persons who received COVID-
19 testing, in accordance with best practice standards and processes as
provided by the Office of Heath Equity, and enter these identifiers either
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manually or electronically on the hospital or reference laboratory COVID-19
test requisition forms.

4. Additional Terms

4.1. Impacts Resulting from Court Orders or Legislative Changes

4.1.1. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future state or federal
legislation or court orders may have an impact on the Services
described herein, the State has the right to modify service priorities
and expenditure requirements under this Agreement so as to achieve
compliance therewith.

4.2. Federal Civil Rights Laws Compliance; Culturally and Linguistically
Appropriate Programs and Services

4.2.1. The Contractor shall submit within thirty (30) days of the contract
effective date, and comply with, a detailed description of the
communication access and language assistance services they will
provide to ensure meaningful access to their programs and/or
services to persons with limited English proficiency, people who are
deaf or have hearing loss, are blind or have low vision, or who have
speech challenges.

4.3. Credits and Copyright Ownership

4.3.1. All documents, notices, press releases, research reports and other
materials prepared by Contractor as a result of the performance of
the services hereunder, which are created as of the Effective Date of
the Agreement and for which the costs and expenses are reimbursed
hereunder as an allowable expense, shall include the following
statement, "The preparation of this (report, document etc.) was
financed under a Contract with the State of New Hampshire,
Department of Health and Human Services, with funds provided in
part by the State of New Hampshire and/or such other funding
sources as were available or required, e.g., the United States
Department of Health and Human Services."

4.3.2. All materials produced or purchased under the contract shall have
prior approval from the Department before printing, production,
distribution or use.

4.4. Operation of Facilities: Compliance with Laws and Regulations

4.4.1. In the operation of any facilities for providing services, the Contractor
shall comply with all laws, orders and regulations of federal, state,
county and municipal authorities and with any direction of any Public
Officer or officers pursuant to laws which shall impose an order or
duty upon the contractor with respect to the operation of the facility or
the provision of the services at such facility. If any governmental
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license or permit shall be required for the operation of the said facility
or the performance of the said services, the Contractor will procure
said license or permit, and will at all times comply with the terms and
conditions of each such license or permit. In connection with the
foregoing requirements, the Contractor hereby covenants and agrees
that, during the term of this Contract the facilities shall comply with all
rules, orders, regulations, and requirements of the State Office of the
Fire Marshal and the local fire protection agency, and shall be in
conformance with local building and zoning codes, by-laws and
regulations.

4.5. Force Majeure

4.5.1. Any delays in performance by a party under the contract shall not be
considered a breach of the contract if and to the extent caused by
occurrences beyond the reasonable control of the party affected: acts
of God, embargoes, governmental restrictions, strikes, pandemics,
fire, earthquake, flood, explosion, riots, wars, civil disorder, rebellion,
or sabotage. The party suffering such occurrence shall immediately
notify the other party of the occurrence of the Force Majeure event (in
reasonable detail) and the expected duration of the event's effect on
the party. A disruption in a party's performance due to Force Majeure
extending beyond a stated period may be the cause for termination of
the Contract at the sole discretion of the State. The State reserves the
right to extend any time for performance by the actual time of the
delay caused by the occurrence, provided that the party affected by
the event uses reasonable efforts to overcome such delay.
Notwithstanding anything in this provision. Force Majeure shall not
include the novel coronavirus COVID-19 pandemic which is ongoing
as of the date of the execution of this Contract. In the event that the
Contractor's performance under the contract may be delayed due to
a supply chain disruption or shortage and/or other similar occurrences
completely outside of Contractor's control, the Contractor must notify
the State of such delay and the State, at its sole discretion, may
modify the delivery of services due to the circumstances. Said
discretion on the part of the State to modify the delivery of services
will not be unreasonably withheld, delayed, or conditioned.

5. Records

5.1. The Contractor shall keep records that include, but are not limited to:

5.1.1. Books, records, documents and other electronic or physical data
evidencing and reflecting all costs and other expenses incurred by the
Contractor in the performance of the Contract, and all income received
or collected by the Contractor.
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5.1.2. All records must be maintained In accordance with^ accounting
procedures and practices, which sufficiently and properly reflect all such
costs and expenses, and which are acceptable to the Department, and
to include, without limitation, all ledgers, books, records, and original
evidence of costs such as purchase requisitions and orders, vouchers,
requisitions for materials, inventories, valuations of In-kind contributions,
labor time cards, payrolls, and other records requested or required by
the Department.

5.1.3. Statistical, enrollment, attendance or visit records for each recipient of
services, which records shall include all records of application ^and
eligibility (including all forms required to determine eligibility for each
such recipient), records regarding the provision of services and all
invoices submitted to the Department to obtain payment for such
services.

5.1.4. Medical records on each patient/recipient of services.

5.2. During the term of this Contract and the period for retention hereunder, the
Department, the United States Department of Health and Human Services, and
any of their designated representatives shall have access to all reports and
records maintained pursuant to the Contract for purposes of audit, examination,
excerpts and transcripts. Upon the purchase by the Department of the
maximum number of units provided for In the Contract and upon payment of
the price limitation hereunder, the Contract and all the obligations of the parties
hereunder (except such obligations as, by the terms of the Contract are to be
performed after the end of the term of this Contract and/or survive the
termination of the Contract) shall terminate, provided however, that if, upon
review of the Final Expenditure Report the Department shall disallow any
expenses claimed by the Contractor as costs hereunder the Department shall
retain the right, at its discretion, to deduct the amount of such expenses as are
disallowed or to recover such sums from the Contractor.
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Payment Terms

1. This Agreement is funded by the Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity for
Prevention and Control of Emerging Infectious Diseases (ELC) cooperative
agreement frdrh the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Division of
Prepardness and Emerging Infections, CFDA #93.323, FAIN #NU50CK000522.

2. For the purposes of this Agreement:

2.1. The Department has identified the Contractor as a Subreclplent, in
accordance with 2 CFR 200.330.

2.2. The Department has identified this Contract as NON-R&D, in
accordance with 2 CFR §200.87.

3. This Agreement is for COVID-19 testing and testing-related activities to be
conducted between September 1, 2020 and December 1, 2020.

4. Payment:

4.1. The Department will pay the Contractor the amount listed in box 1.8
Price Limitation included in the General Provisions Form Number P-37,
for providing the services included in Exhibit B, Scope of Services, after
the Effective Date of the Contract.

4.1.1. The Contractor shall submit an expense report in a form
satisfactory to the State every sixty (60) days, which identifies
allowable expenses incurred during the duration of the contract.

4.1.2. Without limiting the foregoing, and notwithstanding Paragraph
7.1 of P-37 (General Terms), the term "allowable expenses"
shall include personnel costs incurred by Contractor in
connection with the performance of services included in Exhibit
B, Scope of Services.

4.1.3. Any unspent start-up payment funds will be returned to the
Department within sixty (60) calendar days of contract
expiration date.

4.1.4. In lieu of hard copies, all expense reports may be assigned an
electronic signature and must be emailed to
dphscontractbilling@dhhs.nh.gov.

5. The Contractor must provide the services In Exhibit 8, Scope of Services, in
compliance with funding requirements.

6. The Contractor agrees that funding under this Agreement may be recouped, in
whole or in part in the event of non-compliance with the terms and conditions
of Exhibit B, Scope of Services.
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7. The Contractor shall keep detailed records of their activities related to
Department-funded programs and services and have records available for
Department review, as requested.

8. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Contractor agrees that
funding under this agreement may be recouped, in whole or in part, in the event
of non-compliance with any Federal or State law, rule or regulation applicable
to the services provided, or if the said services or products have not been
satisfactorily completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of this
agreement.

9. Notwithstanding Paragraph 17 of the General Provisions Form P-37, changes
limited to adjusting amounts within the price limitation and adjusting
encumbrances between State Fiscal Years and budget class lines through the
Budget Office may be made by written agreehnent of both parties, without
obtaining approval of the Governor and Executive Council, if needed and
justified.

10. Audits

10.1. The Contractor is required to submit an annual audit to the Department
if any of the following conditions exist:

10.1.1. Condition A - The Contractor expended $750,000 or more in
federal funds received as a subrecipient pursuant to 2 CFR Part
200, during the most recently completed fiscal year.

10.1.2. Condition 8 - The Contractor is subject to audit pursuant to the
requirements of NH RSA 7:28, lll-b, pertaining to charitable
organizations receiving support of $1,000,000 or more.

10.1.3. Condition C - The Contractor is a public company and required
by Security and Exchange Commission (SEC) regulations to
submit an annual financial audit.

16.2. If Condition A exists, the Contractor shall submit an annual single audit
performed by an independent Certified Public Accountant (CPA) to the
Department within 120 days after the close of the Contractor's fiscal
year, conducted in accordance with the requirements of 2 CFR Part
200, Subpart F of the Uniform Administrative_ Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal awards.

10.3. If Condition B or Condition C exists, the Contractor shall submit an
annual financial audit performed by an independent CPA within 120
days after the close of the Contractor's fiscal year.

10.4. In addition to, and not in any way in limitation of obligations of the
Contract, it is understood and agreed by the Contractor that the
Contractor shall be held liable.for any state or federal audit exceptions
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and shall return to the Department all payments made under the
Contract to which exception has been taken, or which have been
disallowed because of such an exception.
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS

The Vendor Identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L 100-690, Title V, Subtitle D; 41
U.S.C. 701 et seq.), and.further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections
1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification:

ALTERNATIVE I - FOR GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION ■ CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

This certification is required by the regulations implementing Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free
Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L 100-690, Title V. Subtitle D; 41 U.S.C. 701 et seq.). The January 31,
1989 regulations were amended and pulilished as Part II of the May 25,1990 Federal Register (pages
21681-21691), and require certification by grantees (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub
contractors), prior to award, that they will maintain a drug-free workplace. Section 3017.630(c) of the
regulation provides that a grantee (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub-contractors) that is a State
may elect to make one certification to the Department in each federal fiscal year in lieu of certificates for
each grant during the federal fiscal year covered by the certification. The certificate set out below is a
material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the agency awards the grant. False
certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for suspension of payments, suspension or
termination of grants, or government wide suspension or debarment. Contractors using this form should
send it to:

Commissioner

NH Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street,
Concord, NH,03301-6505

1, The grantee certifies that it will or will continue to provide a drug-free workplace by:
1.1. Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution,

dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the grantee's
workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such
prohibition:

1.2. Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about
1.2.1. The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;
1.2.2. The grantee's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;
1.2.3. Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and
1.2.4. The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations

occurring in the workplace;
1.3. Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged In the performance of the grant be

given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a);
1.4. Notifying the employee in the statement required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of

employment under the grant, the employee will
1.4.1. Abide by the terms of the statement; and
1.4.2. Notify the employer in writing of his or her conviction for a violation of a criminal drug

statute occurring in the workplace no later than five calendar days after such
conviction;

1.5. Notifying the agency in writing, within ten calendar days after receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2 from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.
Employers of convicted employees must provide notice, including position title, to every grant
officer on whose grant activity the convicted employee was working, unless the Federal agency
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has designated a centrai point for the receipt of such notices. Notice shaii include the
identification number(s) of each affected grant;

1.6. Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2, with respect to any employee who Is so convicted
1.6.1. Taking appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and including

termination, consistent with the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as
amended; or

1.6.2. Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal, State, or local health,
law enforcement, or other appropriate agency;

1.7. Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through
implementation of paragraphs 1.1,1.2,1.3,1.4,1.5, and 1.6.

2. The grantee may insert in the space provided below the site(s) for the performance of work done in
connection with the specific grant.

Place of Performance (street address, city, county, slate, zip code) (list each location)

Check □ if there are workplaces on file that are not identified here.

Vendor Name:

Date Name: '
Title: p ^
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Section 319 of Public Law 101-121, Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying, and
31 U.S.C. 1352. and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11
and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification:

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

Programs (indicate applicable program covered):
'Temporary Assistance to Needy Families under Title IV-A
•Child Support Enforcement Program under Title IV-D
'Social Services Block Grant Program under Title XX
•Medicaid Program under Title XIX
'Community Services Block Grant under Title VI
'Child Care Development Block Grant under Title IV

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid by or on behalf of the undersigned, to
any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member
of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in
connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, continuation, renewal, amendment, or
modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention
sub-grantee or sub-contractor).

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress,
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention sub-grantee or sub
contractor), the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form LLL, (Disclosure Form to
Report Lobbying, in accordance with its Instructions, attached and identified as Standard Exhibit E-l.)

3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award
document for sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants,
loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction
was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this
transaction imposed by Section 1352, Title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required
certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for
each such failure.

Vendor Name:

Date ^ Name: ~J~ '
Title: Pres^<Leo
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT. SUSPENSION
AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

The Vendor identified In Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Executive Office of the President, Executive Order 12549 and 45 CFR Part 76 regarding Debarment,
Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters, and further agrees to have the Contractor's
representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following
Certification:

INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION

1. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract), the prospective primary participant is providing the
certification set out below.

2. The inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result in denial
of participation in this covered transaction. If necessary, the prospective participant shall submit an
explanation of why It cannot provide the certification. The certification or explanation will be
considered in connection with the NH Department of Health and Human Services' (DHHS)
determination whether to enter into this transaction. However, failure of the prospective primary
participant to furnish a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such person from participation In
this transaction.

3. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed
when DHHS determined to enter into this transaction. If it is later determined that the prospective
primary participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies
available to the Federal Government. DHHS may terminate this transaction for cause or default.

4. The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the DHHS agency to
whom this proposal (contract) is submitted if at any time the prospective primary participant learns
that its certification was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed
circumstances.

5. The terms 'covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," "ineligible," "lower tier covered
transaction," "participant," "person," "primary covered transaction," "principal," "proposal," and
"voluntarily excluded." as used in this clause, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and
Coverage sections of the rules implementing Executive Order 12549: 45 CFR Part 76. See the
attached definitions.

6. The prospective primary participant agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that, should the
proposed covered transaction tie entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded
from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by DHHS.

7.. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include the
clause titled "Certification Regarding Debarment. Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion -
Lower Tier Covered Transactions," provided by DHHS, without modification, in all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.,

8. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a
. lower tier covered transaction that It is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or involuntarily excluded
from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may
decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each
participant may, but is not required to, check the Nonprocurement List (of excluded parties).

9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records
in order to render in good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and

ExtiiWt F - Certidcation Regarding Debarment. Suspension Vendor initials,
And Other Responsibility Matters ^ / /
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
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information of a participant is not required to exceed that which is normaiiy possessed by a prudent
person in the ordinary course of business dealings.

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions. If a participant in a
covered transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is
suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in
addition to other remedies available to the Federal government, DHHS may terminate this transaction
for cause or.defauit.

PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS

11. The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its
principals:
11.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed fordebarment, declared ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;
11.2. have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal (contract) been convicted of or had

a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in
connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, State or local)
transaction or a contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust
statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property;

11.3. are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity
(Federal, State or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (i)(b)
of this certification; and

11.4. have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public
transactions (Federal, State or local) terminated for cause or default.

12. Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements In this
certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract). ,

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS

13. By signing and submitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the prospective lower tier participant, as
defined in 45 CFR Part 76, certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that it and its principals:
13.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any federal department or agency.
13.2. where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the above, such

prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

14. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that it will
include this clause entitled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, ineligibiiity, and
Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transactions," without modification in all iower tier covered
transactions and in ail solicitations for iower tier covered transactions.

Vendor Name:

'  Name: /Date
Title:

Exhibit F - Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension Vendor Initials ^
And Other Responsibility Matters r/».v/

CUOHHS/M0713 Page 2 of 2 Date—/



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
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CERTiFiCATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO
FEDERAL NONDISCRiMINATION. EQUAL TREATMENT OF FAITH-BASED ORGANIZATIONS AND

WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the Generai Provisions, to execute the following
certification;

Vendor will comply, and will require any subgrantees or subcontractors to comply, with any appiicabie
federai nondiscrimination requirements, which may include: ^

- the Omnibus Crime Controi and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. Section 3789d) which prohibits
recipients of federai funding under this statute from discriminating, either in employment practices or in
the delivery of services or benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act
requires certain recipients to produce an Equal Employment Opportunity Plan;

- the Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (42 U.S.C. Section 5672(b)) which adopts by
reference, the civil rights obligations of the Safe Streets Act. Recipients of federal funding under this
statute are prohibited from discriminating, either in empioymenfpractices or in the delivery of services or
benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act includes Equal
Employment Opportunity Plan requirements;

- the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. Section 2000d, which prohibits recipients of federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of race, color, or national origin in any program or activity);

- the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Section 794). which prohibits recipients of Federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of disability, in regard to employment and the delivery of
services or benefits, in any program or activity;

- the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sections 12131-34), which prohibits
discrimination and ensures equal opportunity for persons with disabilities in employment. State and local
government services, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transportation;

- the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 tJ.S.C. Sections 1681, 1683,1685-86), which prohibits
discrimination on the basis of sex in federally assisted education programs;

-the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. Sections 6106-07), which prohibits discrimination on the
basis of age in programs or activities receiving Federal financial assistance, it does not include
employment discrimination;

- 28 C.F.R. pt. 31 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - OJJDP Grant Programs); 28 C.F.R. pt. 42
(U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Nondiscrimination; Equal Employment Opportunity; Policies
and Procedures); Executive Order No. 13279 (equal protection of the laws for faith-based and community
organizations); Executive Order No. 13559, which provide fundamental principles and policy-making
criteria for partnerships with faith-based and neighborhood organizations;

- 28 C.F.R. pt. 38 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Equal Treatment for Faith-Based
Organizations); and Whistlebiower protections 41 U.S.C. §4712 and The National Defense Authorization
Act (NDAA) for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L. 112-239, enacted January 2, 2013) the Pilot Program for
Enhancement of Contract Employee Whistlebiower Protections, which protects employees against
reprisal for certain whistle blowing activities in connection with federal grants and contracts.

the certificate set out below is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the
agency awards the grant. False certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for
suspension of payments, suspension or termination of grants, or government wide suspension or
debarment.

Exhibit G ^,
Vendor Initials —
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit G

In the event a Federal or State court or Federal or State administrative agency makes a finding of
discrimination after a due process hearing on the grounds of race, color, religion, national origin, or sex
against a recipient of funds, the recipient will forward a copy of the finding to the Office for Civil Rights, to
the applicable contracting agency or division within the Department of Health and Human Services, and
to the Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Ombudsman.

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as Identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification:

1. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract) the Vendor agrees to comply with the provisions
indicated above.

Vendor Name:

Date ■ Name: ^ . /
Title:

Exhibit G c ̂
Vendor Initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit H

CERTIFICATION REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE

Public Law 103-227, Part C - Environmental Tobacco Smoke, also known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994
(Act), requires that smoking not be permitted in any portion of any indoor facility owned or leased or
contracted for by an entity and used routinely or regularly for the provision of health, day care, education,
or library services to children under the age of 18, if the services are funded by Federal programs either
directly or through State or local governments, by Federal grant, contract, loan, or loan guarantee. The
law does not apply to children's services provided in private residences, facilities funded solely by
Medicare or Medicaid funds, and portions of facilities used for inpatlent drug or alcohol treatment. Failure
to comply with the provisions of the law may result in the imposition of a civil monetary penalty of up to
$1000 per day and/or the imposition of an administrative compliance order on the responsible entity.

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees, by signature of the Contractor's
representative as Identified in Section 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification;

1. By signing and submitting this contract, the Vendor agrees to make reasonable efforts to comply with
all applicable provisions of Public Law 103-227, Part C, known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994.

Vendor Name:

Date Name: 7

Exhibit H - Certification Regarding Vendor Iniliais ^
Environmental Tobacco Smoke
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Exhibit I

HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY

ACT miPAAt BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT

Exhibit I is not applicable to this Agieement.

Remainder of page intentionally left blank.

Contractor Initials
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Exhibit J

CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY
ACT IFFATAI COMPLIANCE

The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) requires prime awardees of individual
Federal grants equal to or greater than $25,000 and awarded on or after October 1, 2010, to report on
data related to executive compensation and associated first-tier sub-grants of $25,000 or more. If the
initial award is below $25,000 but subsequent grant modifications result in a total award equal to or over
$25,000, the award is subject to the FFATA reporting requirements, as of the date of the award.
In accordance with 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), the
Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) must report the following'information for any
subaward or contract award subject to the FFATA reporting requirements:
1. Name of entity
2. Amount of award

3. Funding agency
4. NAICS code for contracts / CFDA program number for grants
5. 'Program source '
6. Award title descriptive of the purpose of the funding action
7. Location of the entity
8. Principle place of performance
9. Unique identifier of the entity (DUNS #)
10. Total compensation and names of the top five executives If:

10.1. More than 80% of annual gross revenues are from the Federal government, and those
revenues are greater than $25M annually and

10.2. Compensation information Is not already available through reporting to the SEC.

Prime grant recipients must submit FFATA required data by the end of the month, plus 30 days, In which
the award or award amendment is made.

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act. Public Law 109-282 and Public Law 110-252,
and 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), and further agrees
to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions
execute the following Certification:
The below named Contractor agrees to provide needed information as outlined above to the NH
Department of Health and Human Services and tp comply with all applicable provisions of the Federal
Financial Accountability and Transparency Act.

Contractor Name:

^j^ *//
b"^ Name: }

JC^O
Date

Title:

Exhlbi! J - Certiflcallon Regarding the Federal Funding Contractor Initiais,
Accountability And Transparency Act (FFATA) Compiiance
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit J

Ik

FORM A

As the Contractor identified In Section 1.3 of the Genera! Provisions. I certify that the responses to the
below listed questions are true and accurate.

i,:_DT333j&481. The DUNS number for your entity Is:

,2. In your business or organization's preceding completed fiscal year, did your business or organization
receive (1) 80 percent or more of your annual gross revenue in U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts,
loans, grants, sub-grants, and/or cooperative agreements: and (2) $25,000,000 or more in annual
gross revenues from U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts, loans, grants, subgrants, and/or
cooperative agreements?

NO YES

If the answer to #2 above Is NO, stop here

If the answer to #2 above is YES, please answer the following: ■

3. Does the public have access to information about the compensation of the executives in your
business or organization through periodic reports filed under section 13(a] or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.78m(a), 78o(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986?

NO YES

If the answer to #3 above is YES, stop here

If the answer to #3 above Is NO, please answer the following:

4. The names and compensation of the five most highly compensated officers In your business or
organization are as follows:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Amount;

Amount:

Amount:

Amount;

Amount:

CUfOHHS/110713

Extilblt J - Certlficallon Regarding the Federal Funding
Accountability And Transparency Act (FFATA) Compliance

Page 2 of 2

Contractor Initials

Dale 2.0



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

DHHS Security Requirements

Exhibit K

A. Definitions

The following terms may be reflected and have the described meaning in this document:

1. "Breach" means the loss of control, compromise, unauthorized disclosure,
unauthorized acquisition, unauthorized access, or any similar term referring to

situations where persons other than authorized users and for an other than authorized
purpose have access or potential access to personally identifiable information,
whether physical or electronic. With regard to Protected Health Information,
"Breach" shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" in section 164.402 of
Title 45, Code of Federal Regulations.

2. "Computer Security Incident" shall have the same meaning "Computer Security
Incident" in section two (2) ofNIST Publication 800-61, Computer Security Incident
Handling Guide, National Institute of Standards and Teclmology, U.S. Department
of Commerce.

3. "Confidential Information," "Confidential Data," or "Data" (as defined in Exhibit K),
means all confidential information disclosed by one party to the other such as all
medical, health, financial, public assistance benefits and personal information
including without limitation, Substance Abuse Treatment Records, Case Records,
Protected Health Information and Personally Identifiable Information.

Confidential Information also includes any and all information owned or managed by
the State of NH - created, received from or oh behalf of the Department of Health and
Human Services (DHHS) or accessed in the course of performing contracted services
- of which collection, disclosure, protection, and disposition is governed by state or
federal law or regulation. This infoimation includes, but is not limited to Protected
Health Information (PHI), Personal.Information (PI), Personal Financial Information
(PFI), Federal Tax Information (FTl), Social Security Numbers (SSN), Payment Card
Industry (PCI), and or other sensitive and confidential information.

4. "End User" means any person or entity (e.g., contractor's employee, business
associate, subcontractor, other downstream user, etc.) that receives DHHS data or
derivative data in accordance with the terms of this Contract.

5. "Hli^AA" means tlie Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and
the regulations promulgated thereunder.

6. "Incident" means an act that potentially violates a security policy, which includes
successful attempts) to gain unauthorized access to a system or its data, unwanted
disruption or denial of service, the unauthorized use of a system for the processing or

April, 2020 Exhibit K Contraclor Initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

DHHS Security Requirements

Exhibit K

storage of data; and changes to system hardware, firmware, or software
characteristics without the owner's knowledge, instruction, or consent. Incidents
include the loss of data through theft or device misplacement, loss or misplacement of
hardcopy documents, and misrouting of physical or electronic documents or mail.

7. "Open Wireless Network" means any network or segment of a network that is
not designated by the State of New Hampshire's Department of Information
Technology or delegate as a protected network (designed, tested, and approved,
by means of the State, to transmit) will be considered an open network and not
adequately secure for the transmission of unencrypted PI, PFi, PHI or
confidential DHHS data.

8. "Personal Information" (or "PI") means information which can be used to distinguish
or tiacc an individual's identity, such as their name, social security number, personal
information as defined in New Hampshire RSA 359-C:19, biometric records, etc.,
alone, or when combined with other personal or identifying information which is
linked or linkable to a specific individual, such as date and place of birth, mother's
maiden name, etc.

9. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable
Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services.

10. "Protected Health Information" (or "PHI") has the same meaning as provided in the
definition of "Protected Health Information" in the MTPAA Privacy Rule at 45 C.F.R.
§ 160.103.

11. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic
Protected Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Part 164, Subpart C, and amendments
thereto.

12. "Unsecured Protected Health Infoimation" means Protected Health Information that is

not secured by a technology standard that renders Protected Health Information
unusable, unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is developed
or endorsed by a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American
National Standards Institute.

I. RESPONSIBILITIES OF DHBS AND THE CONTRACTOR

A. Business Use and Disclosure of Confidential Information.

1. The Contractor must not use, disclose, maintain or transmit Confidential Information

April, 2020 Exhibit K Contractor initials
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DHHS Security Requirements

Exhibit K

•sr.

except as required or permitted under this Contract or required by law. Further,
Contractor, including but not limited to all its directors, officers, employees and
agents, must not use, disclose, maintain or transmit PHf in any manner that would
constitute a violation of the Privacy and Security Rule.

2. The Contractor mu.st not disclose any Confidential Information in response to a

request for disclosure on the basis that it is required by law, in response to a subpoena,
etc., without first notifying DHHS so that DHHS has an opportunity to consent or
object to the disclosure.

3. The Contractor agrees that DHFIS Data or derivative there from disclosed to an End
User must only be used pursuant to the terms of this Contract.

11. METHODS OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OF DATA

1. Application Enciyption. If Contractor is transmitting DHHS Data containing
Confidential Data between applications, the Contractor attests the applications have
been evaluated by an expert knowledgeable in cyber security and that said
application's enciyplion capabilities ensure secure transmission via the inteinet.

2. Computer Disks and Portable Storage Devices. Contractor may not use computer disks or
portable storage devices, such as a thumb drive, as a method of transmitting DHHS Data.

3. Enciypted Email. Contractor may only employ email to transmit Confidential Data if
email is enci-vpted and being sent to and being received by email addresses of persons
authorized to receive such information.

4. Enciypted Web Site. If Contractor is employing the Web to transmit Confidential
Data, the secure socket layers (SSL) must be used and the web site must be secure.
SSL encrypts data transmitted via a Web site.

5. File Hosting Services, also known as File Sharing Sites. Contractor may not use file
hosting services, such as Dropbox or Google Cloud Storage, to transmit Confidential
Data.

6. Ground Mail Service. Contractor may only transmit Confidential Data via certified
gi'ound mail within the continental U.S. and when sent to a named individual.

7. Laptops and PDA. If Contractor is employing portable devices to transmit
Confidential Data said devices must be encrypted and password-protected.

8. Open Wireless Networks. Contractor may not transmit Confidential Data via an open
wireless network. End User must employ a virtual private network (WN) when
remotely tiansmittuig via an open wireless network.

9. Remote User Communication. If Contractor is employing remote communication to

April, 2020 Exhibll K Contraclor inilials
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access or transmit Conridehlial Data, a secure method of transmission or remote
access, which complies with the terms and conditions of Exhibit K, must be used.

10. SSH File Transfer Protocol (SFTP), also known as Secure File Transfer Protocol. If
Contractor is employing an SFTP to transmit Confidential Data, End User will
structure the Folder and access privileges to prevent inappropriate disclosure of

information. SFTP folders and sub-folders used for transmitting Confidential Data will
be coded for 24-hour auto-dclction cycle (i.e. Confidential Data will be deleted every 24
hours).

11. Wireless Devices. If Contractor is transmitting Confidential Data via wireless devices, all
data must be encrypted to prevent inappropriate disclosure of information.

ni. RETENTION AND DISPOSITION OF IDENTIFIABLE RECORDS

The Contractor will only retain DHHS Data and any derivative of the data for the duration of
this Contract. After such lime, the Contractor will have thirty (30) days to destroy the data
and any derivative in whatever form it may exist, unless, otherwise required by law or, if it is
infeasible to return or destroy DHHS Data, protections are extended to such information, in
accordance with the termination provisions in this Section. To this end, the parties must: '

A. Retention

1. The Contractor agrees it will not store, transfer or process data collected in
connection with the services rendered under this Contract outside of the United

States. This physical location requirement shall also apply in the implementation of
cloud computing, cloud service or cloud storage capabilities, and includes backup
data and Disaster Recovery locations.

2. The Contractor agrees to ensure proper security monitoring capabilities are in place
to detect potential security events that can impact State ofNH systems and/or
Department confidential information for contractor provided systems accessed or
utilized for purposes of carrying out this contract.

3. The Contractor agrees to provide security awareness and education for its End Users
in support of protecting DHHS Confidential information.

4. The Contractor agrees to retain all electronic and hard copies of Confidential Data
in a secure location and identified in section IV. A.2

5. The Contractor agrees Confidential Data stored in a Cloud must be in a
FedRAMP/HITECH compliant solution and comply with all applicable statutes and
regulations regarding the privacy and security. All servers and devices must have
currently-supported and hardened operating systems, current, updated, and

April, 2020 Exhibit K Contractor Initials
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maintained anti-malware (e.g. anti-viral, anti-hacker, anti-spam, anti-spyware)
utilities. The environment, as a whole, must have aggressive intrusion-detection and
firewall protection.

6. The Contractor agrees to and ensures its complete cooperation with the State's
Chief Information Officer in the detection of any security vulnerability of the
hosting infrastructure.

B. Disposition

If the Contractor maintains any Confidential Information on its systems (or its sub
contractor systems) and it has not done so previously, the Contractor will implement
policies and procedures to ensure that any storage media on which such data maybe
recorded will be rendered unreadable and that the data will be un-recoverable when
the storage media is,disposed of. Upon request, the Contraclor will provide the
Department with copies of these policies and with written documentation
demonstrating compliance with the policies. The written documentation will include
all details necessary to demonstrate data contained in the storage media has been
rendered unreadable and un-recovcrable. Where applicable, regulatory and
professional standards for retention requirements may be jointly evaluated by the
State and Contractor prior to destruction.

1. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this
Contract, Contractor agrees to destroy all hard copies of Confidential Data using a
secure method such as shredding.

2. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this
Contract, Contractor agrees to completely destroy all electronic Confidential Data
by means of data erasure, also known as secure data wiping.

IV. PROCEDURES FOR SECURITY

A. Contractor agrees to safeguard the DHHS Data received under this Contract, and any
derivative data or files, as follows:

1. The Contractor will maintain proper security controls to protect Department
confidential information collected, processed, managed, and/or stored in the delivery
of contracted services.

2. The Contraclor will maintain policies and procedures to protect Department
confidential information throughout the information lifecycle, where applicable, (from
creation, transformation, use, storage'and secure destruction) regardless of the media

April, 2020 Exhibit K Contractor Initials.
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used to store the data (i.e., tape, disk, paper, etc.).

3. The Contractor will maintain appropriate authentication and access controls to
contractor systems that collect, transmit, or store Depailmenl confidential information
where applicable. '

4. If the Contractor will be sub-contracting any core functions of the engagement
supporting the services for State of New Hampshire, the Contractor will ensure End-
User will maintain an internal process or processes that defines specific security
expectations, and monitoring compliance to security requirements that at a minimum
match those for the Contractor, including breach notification requirements.

5. The Contractor will work with the Department to sign and comply with all applicable
State of New Hampshire and Department system access and authorization policies and
procedures, systems access forms, and computer use agreements as part of obtaining
and maintaining access to any Department system(s). Agreements will be completed
and signed by the Contractor and any applicable sub-contractors prior to system access
being authorized.

6. If the Department determines the Contractor is a Business Associate pursuant to 45
CFR 160.103, the Contractor will execute a HIPAA Business Associate Agreement
(BAA) with the Department and is responsible for maintaining compliance with the
agreement.

7. The Contractor will not store any State of New Hampshire or Department data
offshore or outside the boundaries of the United States unless prior express written
consent is obtained from the Information Security Office leadership member within
the Department.

8. Data Security Breach Liability. In the event of any computer security incident,
incident, or breach Contractor shall make efforts to investigate the causes of the
breach, promptly take measures to prevent future breach and minimize any damage or
loss resulting from the breach. The State shall recover from the Contractor all costs of
response and recovery from the breach, including but not limited to: credit monitoring
services, mailing costs and costs associated with website and telephone call center
services necessary due to the breach.

9. Contractor must, comply with all applicable statutes and regulations regarding the
privacy and security of Confidential Information, and must in all other respects
maintain the privacy and security of PI and PHI at a level and scope that is not less
than the level and scope of, HIPAA Privacy and Security Rules (45 C.F.R. Parts 160
and 164) and 42 C.F.R. Part 2 that govern protections for individually identifiable
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health information and as applicable under State law.

10. Contractor agrees to establish and maintain appropriate administrative, technical, and
physical safeguards to protect the confidentiality of the Confidential Data and to
prevent unauthorized use or access to it. The safeguards must provide a level and
scope of security that is not less than the level and scope of security requirements
established by the State of New Hampshire, Department of Information Technology.
Refer to Vendor Resources/Procurement at https://www.nh.gov/doit/vendor/indcx.htm
for the Department of Information Technology policies, guidelines, standards, and
procurement information relating to vendors.

11. Contractor agrees to maintain a documented breach notification and incident response
process. The Contractor must notify the DHHS Security Office and the Program
Contact via the email addresses provided in Section VI of this Exhibit, immediately
upon the Contractor determining that a breach or security incident has occuri-ed and
that DHHS confidential Information/data may have been exposed or compromised.
This includes a confidential information breach, computer security incident, or
suspected breach which affects or includes any State of New Hampshire systems that
connect to the State of New Hampshire network.

12. Contractor must restrict access to the Confidential Data obtained under this

Contract,to only those authorized End Users who need such DHHS Data to perform
their official duties in connection with purposes identified in this Contract.

13. The Contractor is responsible for End User oversight and compliance with the
terms and conditions of the contract and Exhibit K.

DHHS rescivcs the right to conduct onsitc inspections to monitor compliance with this
Contract, including the privacy and security requirements provided in herein, HfPAA,
and other applicable laws and Federal regulations until such time the Confidential Data
is disposed of in accordance with this Contract.

V. LOSS REPORTING

The Contractor must immediately notify the State's Privacy Officer, Information
Security Office and Program Manager of any Seeurity Incidents and Breaches as
specified in Section IV, paragraph 1 1 above.

The Contractor must further handle and report incidents and Breaches involving PHI in
accordance with DHHS's documented Incident Handling and Breach Notification
procedures and in accordance with- the HIPAA, Privacy and Security Rules. In addition

April. 2020 Exhibit K Contractor Initials
DHHS Information

Security Requirements
Page 7 of 8 Date,



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

DHHS Security Requirements

Exhibit K

to, and notwithstanding, Contractor's compliance with all applicable obligations and
procedures, Contractor's procedures must also address how the Contractor will:

1. Identify Incidents;

2. Determine if personally identifiable information is involved in Incidents;

3. Report suspected or confirmed Incidents as required in this Exhibit or P-37;

4. Identify and convene a core response group to determine the risk level of Incidents
and determine risk-based responses to Incidents; and

5. Determine whether Breach notification is required, and, if so, identify appropriate
Breach notification methods, timing, source, and contents from among different
options, and bear costs associated with the Breach notice as well as any mitigation "
measures.

Incidents and/or Breaches that implicate PI must be addressed and reported, as
applicable, in accordance with NH RSA 359-C:20.

VI. PERSONS TO CONTACT

A. DHHS contact for Data Management or Data Exchange issues:

DHHSlnformationSecurityOfficc@dhhs.nh.gov

B. DHHS contacts for Privacy issues:

DHHSPrivacyOfficer@dhhs.nh.gov

C. DHHS contact for Information Security issues;

DHHSlnformationSecurilyOffice@dhhs.nh.gov

D. DHHS contact for Breach notifications:

DHHSInformationSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov

DHHSPrivacvOfTicer@dhh.s.nh.gov

E. DHHS Program Area Contact:

Christine.Bean@dhhs.nh.gov

cr

April, 2020 Exhibll K Contrador Inilials
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State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

I, William M. Gardner, Sem:tary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that ALICE PECK DAY

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on

November 17, 1930. 1 further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary of State's office have been received

and is in good standing as far as this office is concerned.

Business ID; 60181

A.

tBm

O

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affi.xcd

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 6th day of December A.D. 2017.

William M. Gardner

Secretary of State



CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY

, hereby certify that
(Name of the elected Officer of the Qspporation/LLC; cannot be contract signatory)

llama duly elected Clerk/Secretary/Officer of _ Ve-r^k- kApMciTf^J HiBDl'hLl
(Corporation/LLC Name) '

2. The following Is a true copy of a vote taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors/shareholders, duly called and
held on PkSf 20 /4 . at which a quorum of the Directorsyshareholders were present and voting.

(Date)

VOTED: That Ay\ (may list more than one person)
(Name and Title of Contract SIgnatpfy)

Is duly authorized on behalf of. APD to enter into contracts or agreements with the State
(Name of Corporation/ LLC)

of New Hampshire and any of Its agencies or departments and further Is authorized to execute any and all
documents, agreements and other Instruments, and any amendments, revisions, or modifications thereto, which
may In his/her judgment be desirable or necessary to effect the purpose of this vote.

3. 1 hereby certify that said vote has not been amended or repealed and remains in full force and effect as of the
date of the contract/contract amendment to which this certificate Is attached. This authority remains valid for
thirty (30) days from the date of this Certificate of Authority. I further certify that It Is understood that the State of
New Hampshire will rely on this certifrcate as evidence that the person(s) listed above currently occupy the
posltion(s) Indicated and that they have full authority to bind the corporation. To the extent that there are any
lirfiits on the authority of any listed individual to bind the corporation In contracts with the State of Ne\y-tlampshlre,
all such limitations are expressly stated herein.

bated: / I ' \\ /tkKA\0
Signature of Elected Officer
Name: M'chaei L^nCi
Title: SkoreJbiM-

Rev. 03/24/20



CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DATE: August 24, 2020

COMPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE

Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
P.O. Box 1687

30 Main Street, Suite 330
Burlington, VT 05401

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only
and confers no rights upon the Ceiiificate Holder. This
Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage
afforded by the policies below.

INSURED

Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital
10 Alice Peck Day Drive
Lebanon, NH 03766

COVERAGES

The Policy listed below has been issued to the Named Insured above for the Policy Period notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document with respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may
have been reduced by paid claims.

TYPE OF

INSURANCE
POLICY NUMBER

POLICY

EFFECTIVE

DATE

POLICY

EXPIRATION

DATE

LIMITS

GENERAL

LIABILITY

0002020-A 07/01/2020 07/01/202! EACH

(XCURRENCE
SI.000,000

DAMAGE TO

RENTED

PREMISES

$100,000

X CLAIMS MADE
MEDICAL

EXPENSES
N/A

PERSONAL &

ADV INJURY
$1,000,000

OCCURRENCE GENERAL

AGGREGATE $2,000,000

OTHER PRODUCTS-

COMP/OPAGG
$1,000,000

PROFESSIONAL

LIABILITY

EACH CLAIM

CLAIMS MADE
ANNUAL

AGGREGATE

OCCURENCE

OTHER

DESCRIPTION OP OPER/M IONS/ LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES/SPECIAL ITEMS (LIMITS MAY BE SUBJECI TO RETENTIONS)

Certificate is supplied as evidence of insurance only for purpose of a community COVID-19 testing contract.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301-3857

CANCELLATION

Should any of the above described policies be cancelled before the expiration date
thereof, the issuing company will endeavor to mail 30 DAYS written notice to (he
certificate holder named below, but failure to mail such notice shall impose no
obligillon or liability' of any kind upon the company, its agents or representatives.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES



/\COKO CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE DATE (MM/DDrrVYY)

9/2/2020

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OP INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER. AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder In lieu of such endorsementis).

PRODUCER License#1780862
HUB Intemational New England
275 US Route 1
Cumberland Foreslde, ME O4110

gSJJ^Acr Nicole Goodrlch

wcnVewi: (617) 528^903 |
nicole.goodrich@hubintemational.com

INSURERIS) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAICS

INSURER A Safetv National Casuattv Corooration 15105

INSURED

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

1 Medical Center Dr.
Lebanon, NH 03756

INSURER B

INSURERC

INSURER 0

INSURER E

INSURER F

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOO
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSR

LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE
ADDL

INSD
SUBR

YYY9 POLICY NUMBER LIMITS

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

£ 1 1 OCCUR

•

EACH OCCURRENCE S

1 CLAIMS-MAC DAMAGE TO RENTED
$

MED EXP (Anv orte oeraont s

PERSONAL S ADV INJURY s

GENt AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE s

POLICY 1 1 |l0C
OTHER:

PRODUCTS • COMP/OP AGG $

s

I AUTOMOBILE UABILITY COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
s

[ ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per tieraonl s
OWNED
AUTOS ONLY

Alfl^S ONLY

sc
AL
HEDULEO
rros BODILY INJURY (Per acnidflnl) $

NC
AL

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per ocadent) $

s

UMBRELLA UAB

EXCESS UAB

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

EACH (OCCURRENCE s

AGGREGATE s

DEO 1 1 RETENTION S |
s

A WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' UABILITY ^ ̂ ̂
ANY PROPRtETORff>ARTNER«XECUTIVE 1 1

LJ
if yea, deacibe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

HI A

AGC4063394 7/1/2020 7/1/2021

y PER 1 OTH-
^ .ATATtlTF 1 FR

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT
J  1,000,000

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE
,  1,000,000

E.L. DISEASE ■ POLICY LIMIT
j  1,000,000

1

DESCRIPnON OF OPERATIONS/ LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101. AddiUorwl R*m«rkt Schedule, may be attached 11 more apace la required)
Evidence of Workers Compensation coverage for

Cheshire Medical Center

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital ^
New London Hospital Association
Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health Center

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

NHDHHS

129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03) © 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD



ALICE PECK DAY
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

A Dartmouth-Hitchcock Affiliate

APD's mission is

to improve the
health and wellbeing
of our community.

•Affirmed by Board of Trustees in July, 2019
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and
its subsidiaries {the "Health System"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30,
2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets and of
cash flows for the years then ended.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America;
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Health
System's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Health System's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and its subsidiaries as of June 30, 2019
and 2018, and the results of their operations, changes in net assets and their cash flow^s for the years then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

PriceiuaterhouseCoopcrs LLP, lOJ Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617)5305000, F: (617)5305001, ww.pwc.com/us
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Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Health System changed the manner
in which it accounts for revenue recognition from contracts with customers and the manner in which it
presents net assets and reports certain aspects of its financial statements as a not-for-profit entity in 2019.
Our opinion is not modified v/ith respect to this matter.

Other Matter

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole. The consolidating information is the responsibility of management and was derived
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated
financial statements. The consolidating information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves
and other additional procedures, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, the consolidating information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The consolidating information is
presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements rather than to
present the financial position, results of its operations, changes in net assets and cash flows of the
individual companies and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, we
do not express an opinion on the financial position, results of operations, changes in net assets and cash
flows of the individual companies.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 26, 2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, lOi Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5OO1, w\vw.pwc.coni/us



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

(in thousands of dollas)

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Patient accounts receivable, net of estimated uncollectibles of

$132,228 at June 30, 2018 (Note 4)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use (Notes 5 and 7)
Other investments for restricted activities (Notes 5 and 7)
Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 6)
Other assets

Total assets

jJablltties and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10)
Current portion of liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits (Note 11)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Note 13)
Accrued compensation and related benefits

Estimated third-party settlements (Note 4)

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10)
Insurance deposits and related liabilities (Note 12)
Liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits,
excludir^ current portion (Note 11)
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 4,6, 7,10, and 13)

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (Note 9)
Net assets with donor restrictions (Notes 8 and 9)

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

2019

221,125

95.495

460,207

876,249

134,119

621,256

124,471

10,914 $

3,468

113,817

128,408

41,570

298,177

752,180

58,407

281,009

124,136

1,513,909

559,933

142,460

702,393

2018

$  143,587 $ 200,169

219,228

97,502

516,899

706,124

130,896

607,321

108,785

$  2,216,302 $ 2,070,025

3,464

3,311

95,753

125,576

41,141

269,245

752,975

55,516

242,227

88,127

1,408,090

524,102

137,833

661,935

$  2,216,302 $ 2,070,025

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue $  1,999,323 :$  1,899,095
Provision for bad debts (Notes 2 and 4)

- 47,367

Net patient service revenue 1,999,323 1,851,728

Contracted revenue (Note 2) 75,017 54,969
Other operating revenue (Notes 2 and 5) 210,698 148,946
Net assets released from restrictions 14,105 13,461

Total operating revenue and other support 2,299,143 2,069,104

Operating expenses
Salaries 1,062,551 989,263
Employee benefits 251,591 229,683
Medical supplies and medications 407,875 340,031
Purchased services and other 323,435 291,372
Medicaid enhancement tax (Note 4) 70,061 67,692
Depreciation and amortization 88,414 84,778
Interest (Note 10) 25,514 18,822

Total operating expenses 2,229,441 2,021,641

Operating income (loss) 89,702 47,463

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment income, net (Note 5) 40,052 40,387
Other losses, net (Note 10) (3,562) (2,908)
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (87) (14,214)
Loss due to swap termination

- (14,247)

Total non-operating gains, net 36,403 9,018

Excess of revenue over expenses $  106,105 g;  56,481

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes In Net Assets - Continued
Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Net assets without donor restrictions

Excess of revenue over expenses $  106,105 $ 56,481
Net assets released from restrictions 1,769 16,313
Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefits (Note 11) (72,043) 8,254
Other changes in net assets - (185)
Change in fair value of interest rate svi/aps (Note 10) - 4,190
Change in interest rate swap effectiveness

- 14,102

Increase in net assets without donor restrictions 35,831 99,155

Net assets with donor restrictions

Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities 17,436 14,171
Investment income, net 2,682 4,354
Net assets released from restrictions (15.874) (29,774)
Contribution of assets with donor restrictions from acquisition 383 -

Increase (decrease) in net assets with donor restrictions 4,627 (11,249)

Change in net assets 40,458 87,906

Net assets

Beginning of year 661,935 574,029

End of year $  702,393 $ 661,935

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities
Change in fair value of interest rate swaps
Provision for bad debt

Depredation and amortization

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement benefits
(Gain) on disposal of fixed assets
Net realized gains and change in net unrealized gains on investments

Restricted contributions and investment earnings
Proceeds from sales of securities

Loss from debt defeasance

Changes in assets and liabilities
Patient accounts receivable, net

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Other assets, net

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Accrued compensation and related benefits
Estimated third-party settlements
Insurance deposits and related liabilities
Liability for pension and other postretirement benefits
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment

Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment
Purchases of investments

Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments

Cash received through acquisition

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from line of credit

Payments on line of credit
Repayment of long-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of debt

Repayment of interest rate swap
Payment of debt issuance costs
Restricted contributions and investment eamings

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Beginning of year

End of year

Supplemental cash flow information

Interest paid

Net assets acquired as part of acquisition, net of cash aquired
Non-cash proceeds from issuance of debt
Use of non-cash proceeds to refinance debt
Construction in progress included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses
Equipment acquired through issuance of capital lease obligations
Donated securities

2019 2018

S  40,458 $ 87.906

. (4,897)

- 47,367

88,770 e4;947

72,043 (8,254)

(1,101) (125)

(31,397) (45.701)

(2,292) (5,460)

1,167 1,531

-
14,214

(1,803) (29,335)

2.149 (8,299)

(9.052) (11,665)

17,898 19,693

2,335 10,665

429 13,708

2,378 4,556

(33,104) (32,399)
12,267 (2,421)

161,145 136.031

(82,279) (77.598)
2,188 -

(361,407) (279.407)

219,996 273.409

4,863 -

(216,639) (83.596)

30,000 50,000

(30,000) (50,000)

(29,490) (413,104)

26,338 507,791

- (16,019)
(228) (4,892)
2,292 5,460

(1,088) 79,236

(56,582) 131,671

200.169 68,498

$  143,587 $ 200,169

$  23.977 $ 18.029

(4.863) -

- 137.281

- (137,281)

1,546 1,569
- 17,670

1,167 1,531

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Fihanclal Statements

June 30, 2019 and 2018

1. Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of the following entities:
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Subsidiaries (DHC). Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and
Subsidiaries (MHMH), (DHC and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London
Hospital Association and Subsidiaries (NLH), Windsor Hospital Corporation (d/b/a Mt. Ascutney
Hospital and Health Center) and Subsidiaries (MAHHC), Cheshire Medical Center and Subsidiaries
(Cheshire), Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital and, effective July 1, 2018, Subsidiary (ARD), and
the Visiting Nurse and Hospice for Vermont and New Hampshire and Subsidiaries (VNH). The
"Health System" consists of D-HH, its members and their subsidiaries.

The Health System currently operates one tertiary, one community and three acute care (critical
access) hospitals in New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). One facility provides inpatient and
outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Health System also operates multiple
physician practices, a nursing home, a continuing care retirement community, and a home health
and hospice service. The Health System operates a graduate level program for health professions
and is the principal teaching affiliate of the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel), a component of
Dartmouth College.

D-HH, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, The New London Hospital
Association. Cheshire Medical Center, and Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital are NH not-for-profit
corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue
Code (IRC). Windsor Hospital Corporation and the Visiting Nurse and Hospice of VT and NH are
VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501 (c)(3) of the
IRC.

Community Benefits
The mission of the Health System is to advance health through clinical practice and community
partnerships, research and education, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the
right time, every time.

Consistent with this mission, the Health System provides high quality, cost effective,
comprehensive, and integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it serves
regardless of a patient's ability to pay. The Health System actively supports community-based
healthcare and promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social
services organizations. In addition, the Health System also seeks to work collaboratively with other
area healthcare providers to improve the health status of the region. As a component of an
integrated academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic
and research programs.

Certain member hospitals of the Health System file annual Community Benefits Reports with the
State of NH which outline the community and charitable benefits each provides. VT hospitals are
not required by taw to file a state community benefit report. The categories used in the Community
Benefit Reports to summarize these benefits are as follows:

•  Community Health Sen/ices include activities carried out to improve community health and
could include community health education (such as classes, programs, support groups, and
materials that promote wellness and prevent illness), community-based clinical services (such
as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services (enrollment assistance
In public programs, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs medications, telephone
information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to care, etc.).



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2019 and 2018

•  Health Professions Education includes uncompensated costs of training medical students,
Residents, nurses, and other health care professionals

•  Subsidized health services are services provided by the Health System, resulting in financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available unless the
responsibility was assumed by the government.

•  Research support and other grants represent costs in excess of awards for numerous health
research and service initiatives awarded to the organizations within the Health System.

•  Financial Contributions include financial contributions of cash, as well as in-kind contributions

such as time, supplies, and expertise to local organizations to address community health
needs.

•  Community-Building Activities include expenses incurred to support the development of
programs and partnerships intended to address public health challenges as well as social and
economic determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing,
economic development, support system enhancements, environmental improvements,
leadership development and training for community members, community health improvement
advocacy, and workforce enhancement.

•  Community Benefit Operations includes costs associated with staff dedicated to administering
benefit programs, community health needs assessment costs, and other costs associated with
community benefit planning and operations.

•  Charity Care and Costs of Government Sponsored Health Care includes losses, at-cost,
incurred by providing health care services to persons qualifying for hospital financial
assistance programs, and uncompensated costs of providing health care services to patients
who are Medicaid Beneficiaries.

•  The uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2018 was approximately $139,683,000. The 2019 Community Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2020.

The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health
System's most recently filed Community Benefit Reports for the year ended June 30, 2018:

(in thousands of dollars)

Government-sponsored healthcare services $ 246,064
Health professional education 33,067
Charity care 13,243
Subsidized health services 11,993

Community health services 6,570
Research 5,969

Community building activities 2,540
Financial contributions 2,360

Community benefit operations 1,153

Total community benefit value $ 322,959
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
have been prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (PASS) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 954, Healthcare Entities, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets, revenue, expenses, and gains and losses of healthcare
entities are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.
Accordingly, net assets without donor restrictions are amounts not subject to donor-imposed
stipulations and are available for operations. Net assets vrith donor restrictions are those whose
use has been limited by donors to a specific time period or purpose, or \Arhose use has been
restricted by donors to be maintained in perpetuity. All significant intercompany transactions have
been eliminated upon consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include implicit and explicit pricing concessions, valuation of
certain investments, estimated third-party settlements, insurance reserves, and pension
obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Excess of Revenue over Expenses
The consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets include the excess of
revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those items attributable to the care of
patients, including contributions and investment income on investments of net assets without donor
restrictions, which are utilized to provide charity and other operational support. Peripheral
activities, including contribution of net assets \Mthout donor restrictions from acquisitions, loss on
early extinguishment of debt, loss due to swap termination, realized gains/losses on sates of
investment securities and changes in unrealized gains/losses in investments are reported as non-
operating gains (losses).

Changes in net assets without donor restrictions which are excluded from the excess of revenue
over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived assets
(including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the
purpose of acquiring such assets), change in funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefit plans, and the effective portion of the change in fair value of interest rate swaps.

Charity Care
The Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies without charge or at amounts less than their established rates. Because the
Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts determined to qualify as charity care, they
are not reported as revenue.
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The Health System grants credit without collateral to patients. Most are local residents and are
insured under third-party arrangements. The amount of charges for implicit price concessions is
based upon management's assessment of historical and expected net collections, business and
economic conditions, trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage, and other
collection indicators {Notes 1 and 4).

Patient Service Revenue

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (ASC 606). Patient service revenue is reported at the amount of consideration to which
the Health System expects to be entitled from patients, third party payors, and others for services
rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-
party payors and implicit pricing concessions. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an
estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as
estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

Contracted Revenue

The Health System has various Professional Service Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to which
certain organizations purchase services of personnel employed by the Health System and also
lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts have been classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

Other Revenue

The Health Systerh recognizes other revenue which is not related to patient medical care but is
central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. Other revenue primarily consists of
revenue from retail pharmacy, which the Health System records as customer revenues in the
amounts that reflect the consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the
prescription. Other revenue also includes joint operating agreements, grant revenue, cafeteria
sales and other support service revenue.

Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include investments in highly liquid investments with maturities of three months
or less when purchased, excluding amounts where use is limited by internal designation or other
arrangements under trust agreements or by donors.

Investments and Investment Income

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values, mutual funds and
pooled/commingled funds, and all investments in debt securities are considered to be trading
securities reported at fair value with changes in fair value included in the excess of revenues over
expenses. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (Note 7).

Investments in pooled/commingled investment funds, private equity funds and hedge'funds that
represent investments where the Health System owns shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with changes in
value recorded in the excess of revenues over expenses. All investments, whether held at fair
value or under the equity method of accounting, are reported at what the Health System believes to
be the amount they would expect to receive if it liquidated its investments at the balance sheet
dates on a nondistressed basis.
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Certain members of the Health System are partners in a NH general partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled Investment accounts. Substantially
all of the Health System's board-designated and assets with donor restrictions, such as endowment
funds, were invested in these pooled funds by purchasing units based on the market value of the
pooled funds at the end of the month prior to receipt of any nevy additions to the funds. Interest,
dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses earned on pooled funds are allocated
monthly based on the weighted average units outstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses (including change in unrealized and realized gains and losses on
Investments, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends) are included in
the excess of revenue over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and losses, unless the
income or loss is restricted by donor or law (Note 9).

Fair Value Measurement of Financial instruments

The Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements). The three levels of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below;

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.

Level 2 Prices other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement.

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The Health System applies the accounting .provisions of Accounting Standards Update (ASU)
2009-12, Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or its
Equivalent) (ASU 2009-12). ASU 2009-12 allows for the estimation of fair value of investments for
which the investment does not have a readily determinable fair value, to use net asset value (NAV)
per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient, subject to the Health System's ability to redeem
its investment.

The carrying amount of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximates fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System's policy is to
capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance and repair
expenditures which do not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight-line method at rates which are intended to amortize the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements. 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years, for
leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the
period of construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets.

11
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The fair value of a liability for legal obligations associated with asset retirements is recognized in
the period in which it is incurred, if a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation can be
made. When a liability is initially recorded, the cost of the asset retirement obligation is capitalized
by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted
to its present value each period and the capitalized cost associated with the retirement is
depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the obligation, any
difference between the actual cost to settle the asset retirement obligation and the liability recorded
is recognized as a gain of loss in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets.

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support, and excluded
from the excess of revenue over expenses, unless explicit donor stipulations specify how the
donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets with explicit restrictions that specify how the
assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital assets
are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those capital
assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated or
acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond Issuance costs, classified on the consolidated balance sheets within long-term debt, are
amortized over the term of the related bonds. Amortization is recorded within interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the straight-line method
which approximates the effective interest method.

intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Health System records within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets goodwill and
intangible assets such as trade names and leases-in-place. The Health System considers trade
names and goodwill to be indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for impairment or
more frequently if certain events or circumstances warrant and recognizes impairment charges for
amounts by which the carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded
$10,524,000 and $2,462,000 as intangible assets associated with its affiliations as of June 30,
2019 and 2018, respectively.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
The Health System applies the provisions of ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, to its derivative
instruments, which require that all derivative instruments be recorded at their respective fair values
in the consolidated balance sheets.

On the date a derivative contract is entered into, the Health System designates the derivative as a
cash-flow hedge of a forecasted transaction or the variability of cash flows to be received or paid
related to a recognized asset or liability. For all hedge relationships, the Health System formally
documents the hedging relationship and its risk-management objective and strategy for
undertaking the hedge, the hedging instrument, the nature of the risk being hedged, how the
hedging Instrument's effectiveness in offsetting the hedged risk will be assessed, and a description
of the method of measuring ineffectiveness. This process includes linking cash-flow hedges to
specific assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets, specific firm commitments or
forecasted transactions. The Health System also formally assesses, both at the hedge's Inception
and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in variability of cash flows of hedged items. Changes in the fair
value of a derivative that is highly effective and that is designated and qualifies as a cash-flow
hedge are recorded in net assets without donor restrictions until earnings are affected by the
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variability in cash flows of the designated hedged item. The ineffective portion of the change in fair
value of a cash flow hedge is reported in excess of revenue over expenses in the consolidated
statements of operations and changes in net assets.

The Health System discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when it is determined: (a) the
derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of the hedged item; (b) the
derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised; (c) the derivative is undesignated as a
hedging instrument because it is unlikely that a forecasted transaction will occur; (d) a hedged firm
commitment no longer meets the definition of a firm commitment; and (e) management determines
that designation of the derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer appropriate.

In all situations in which hedge accounting is discontinued, the Health System continues to carry
the derivative at its fair value on the consolidated balance sheets and recognizes any subsequent
changes in its fair value in excess of revenue over expenses.

Gifts

Gifts without donor restrictions are recorded net of related expenses as non-operating gains.
Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at the date the gift is received. Gifts are reported with donor restrictions if they are
received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction
expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported
in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets released
from restrictions.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09 • Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 606)
and in August 2015, the FASB amended the guidance to defer the effective date of this standard by
one year. ASU 2014-09 affects any entity that either enters into contracts with customers to
transfer goods or services or enters into contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets unless

those contracts are within the scope of other standards. The core principle of the guidance in ASU
2014-09 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Health System adopted ASU 2014-09
effective July 1, 2018 under the modified retrospective method, and has provided the new
disclosures required post implementation. For example, patient accounts receivable are shown net
of the allowance for doubtful accounts of approximately $132,228,000 as of June 30, 2018 on the
consolidated balance sheet. If an allowance for doubtful accounts had been presented as of June
30, 2019, it would have been approximately $121,544,000. While the adoption of ASU 2014-09 has
had a material effect on the presentation of revenues in the Health System's consolidated
statements of operations and changes in net assets, and has had an impact on certain disclosures,
it has not materially impacted the financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Refer to
Note 4, Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable, for further details.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 - Leases (Topic 842), which requires a lessee to
recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments, on its balance sheet. The standard also requires a lessee to recognize a single
lease cost, calculated so that the cost of the lease is allocated over the lease term, on a generally
straight-line basis. The guidance also expands the required quantitative and qualitative disclosures
surrounding leases. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, or
fiscal year 2020 for the Health System. The Health System is evaluating the impact of the new
guidance on the consolidated financial statements.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01- Recognition and Measurement of Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities, which address certain aspects of recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. This guidance allows an entity to choose,
Investment-by-investment, to report an equity investment that neither has a readily determinable
fair value, nor qualifies for the practical expedient for fair value estimation using NAV, at its cost
minus impairment (if any), plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in
orderly transactions for the identical or similar investment of the same issue. Impairment of such
investments must be assessed qualitatively at each reporting period. Entities must disclose their
financial assets and liabilities by measurement category and form of asset either on the face of the
balance sheet or in the accompanying notes. The ASU is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2018 or fiscal year 2020 for the Health System. The provision to
eliminate the requirement to disclose the fair value of financial instruments measured at cost (such
as the fair value of debt) was early adopted during the year ended June 30, 2017.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-14 - Presentation of Financial Statements for Not-for-
Profit Entities. The new pronouncement amends certain financial reporting requirements for not-for-
profit entities. It reduces the number of classes of net assets from three to two: net assets with
donor restrictions includes amount previously disclosed as both temporarily and permanently
restricted net assets, net assets without donor restrictions includes amounts previously disclosed
as unrestricted net assets. It expands the disclosure of expenses by both natural and functional
classification. It adds quantitative and qualitative disclosures about liquidity and availability of
resources. The ASU is effective for the Health System for the year ending June 30, 2019. The
Health System has adopted this ASU on a retrospective basis, except for the presentation of
expenses based on natural and functional classification and the discussion of liquidity, as permitted
in the ASU. Please refer to Note 14, Functional Expenses, and Note 15. Liquidity.

r

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-08, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958), Clarifying the
Scope and the Accounting Guidance for Contributions Received and Contributions Made. The new
pronouncement was intended to assist entities in evaluating whether transactions should be
accounted for as contributions or exchange transactions and whether a contribution is conditional.
This ASU was effective for the Health System on July 1, 2018 on a modified prospective basis and
did not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Health System.

3. Acquisitions

Effective July 1, 2018, Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital became the sole corporate member of
APD LifeCare Center Inc. (LifeCare). LifeCare owns and operates Harvest Hill, an assisted living
facility, the Woodlands, a residential living community and the Elizabeth S. Hughes Care Unit,
which provides hospice care.
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In accordance with applicable accounting guidance on not-for-profit mergers and acquisitions, Alice
Peck Day Memorial Hospital recorded goodwill related to the acquisition of LifeCare of
approximately $5,131,000. Restricted contribution income of $383,000 was recorded within net
assets with donor restrictions in the accompanying consolidated statement of changes in net
assets. Included in the transaction was LifeCare's cash balance of $4,863,000. No consideration

was exchanged for the net assets assumed and acquisition costs were expensed as incurred.
LifeCare's financial position, results of operations and changes in net assets are included in the
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019.

4. Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable

The Health System reports patient service revenue at amounts that reflect the consideration to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from
patients, third-party payers (including managed care payers and government programs), and
others: and they include variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to
settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Health System bills patients and
third-party payers several days after the services were performed or shortly after discharge.
Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied under contracts by providing
healthcare services to patients.

The Health System determines performance obligations based on the nature of the services
provided. Revenues for performance obligations satisfied oyer time are recognized based on
actual charges incurred in relation to total expected charges as this method provides a reasonable
estimate of the transfer of services over the term of performance obligations based on inputs
needed to satisfy the obligations. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to
patients receiving inpatient acute care services. For inpatient services, performance obligations
are measured from admission to the point when there are no further services required for the
patient, which is generally the time of discharge. For outpatient services and physician services,
performance obligations are recognized at a point in time when the services are provided and no
further patient services are deemed necessary.

Generally, the Health System's patient service performance obligations relate to contracts with a
duration of less than one year, therefore the Health System has elected to apply the optional

.  exemption provided in ASC 606-10-50-14a and, therefore, we are not required to disclose the
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied
or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. This generally refers to inpatient services
at the end of the reporting period, the performance obligations for these contracts are generally
completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the
end of the reporting period.

Established charges represent gross charges. They are not the same as actual pricing, and they
generally do not reflect what a hospital is ultimately entitled to for services it provides. Therefore,
they are not displayed in the Health System's consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets.

Hospitals are paid amounts negotiated with insurance companies or set by government entities,
which are typically less than established or standard charges. Gross charges are used to calculate
Medicare outlier payments and to determine certain elements of payment under managed care
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contracts. Gross charges are what hospitals charge all patients prior to the application of
contractual adjustments and Implicit price concessions.

Explicit Pricing Concessions
Revenues for the Health System under the traditional fee-for service Medicare and Medicaid
programs are based on prospectively determined rates per discharge or visit, reasonable
(allowable) cost, or prospective rates per episodic period, depending on the type of provider.

Iripatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid using the
prospective payment system ("PPS") to determine rates-per-discharge. These rates vary
according to a patient classification system ("DRG"), based on diagnostic, clinical and other
factors. In addition, inpatient capital costs (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by
Medicare on the basis of a prospectively determined rate per discharge. Medicare
outpatient services are paid on a prospective payment system, based on a pre-determined
amount for each outpatient procedure (ARC), subject to various mandated modifications.
Retrospectively determined cost-based revenues under these programs, such as indirect
medical education, direct graduate medical education, disproportionate share hospital,
transplant services, and bad debt reimbursement are based on the hospital's cost reports
and are estimated using historical trends and current factors. The Health System's
payments for inpatient services rendered to New Hampshire ("NH") and Vermont ("VT)
Medicaid beneficiaries are based on PPS, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a
retrospective cost basis or fee schedules for NH beneficiaries. VT outpatient beneficiaries
are paid on a prospective basis per outpatient procedure.

Inpatient acute, swing, and outpatient services furnished by critical access hospitals ("CAH')
are reimbursed by Medicare at 101% of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration,
excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice care.

•  Providers of home health services to patients eligible for Medicare home health benefits are
paid on a prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is
based on the scoring attributed to the acuity level of the patient at a rate determined by
federal guidelines.

Hospice services to patients eligible for Medicare hospice benefits are paid on a per diem~
basis, with no retrospective settlement, provided the aggregate, annual Medicare
reimbursement is below a predetermined aggregate capitated rate.

The Health System's cost based services to Medicare and Medicaid are reimbursed during
the year based on varying interim payment methodologies. Final settlement is determined
after the submission of an annual cost report and subject to audit of this report by Medicare
and Medicaid auditors, as well as administrative and judicial review. Because the laws,
regulations, and rule interpretations, governing Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement are
complex and change frequently, the estimates recorded could change over time by material
amounts.

Revenues under Managed Care Plans (Plans) consist primarily of payment terms involving
mutually agreed upon rates per diagnosis, discounted fee-for service rates, or similar
contractual arrangements. These revenues are also subject to review and possible audit.
The Plans are billed for patient services on an individual patient basis. An individual
patient's bill is subject to adjustments in accordance with contractual terms in place with the
Plans following their review and adjudication of each bill.
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The Health System is not aware of any claims, disputes, or unsettled matters with any payer that
would materially affect its revenues for which it has not adequately provided in the accompanying
Health System's consolidated financial statements.

The Health System provides charity care to patients who are unable to pay for healthcare services
they receive as determined by financial conditions. Patients who qualify receive partial or full
adjustments to charges for services rendered. The Health System's policy is to treat amounts
qualified as charity care as explicit price concessions and as such are not reported in net patient
service revenue.

During fiscal year 2016, Vermont state legislation passed changes to the tax base for home health
providers from 19.30% of core home health care services (primarily Medicaid services) with a cap
of 6% of net patient service revenue to 3.63% of net patient revenue for fiscal year 2017 and fiscal
year 2018. Home health provider tax paid, which is included in other operating expenses, was
$628,000 and $737,000 in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

On June 30, 2014, the NH Governor signed into law a bi-partisan legislation reflecting an
agreement between the State of NH and 25 NH hospitals on the Medicaid Enhancement Tax
(MET) Senate Bill 369. As part of the agreement, the parties have agreed to resolve all pending
litigation related to MET and Medicaid Rates, including the Catholic Medical Center Litigation, the
Northeast Rehabilitation Litigation, 2014 DRA Refund Requests, and the State Rate Litigation. As
part of the MET Agreement Effective July 1, 2014, a "Trust / Lock Box" dedicated funding
mechanism will be established for receipt and distribution of all MET proceeds with all monies used
exclusively to support Medicaid services.

On May 22, 2018, the State of New Hampshire and all New Hampshire hospitals (NH Hospitals)
signed a new settlement agreement and multi-year plan for Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH)
payments, with provisions to create alternative payments should there be federal changes to the
DSH program by the United States Congress. The agreement may change or limit federal
matching funds for MET when used to support DSH payments to hospitals and the Medicaid
program, or change the definition of Uncompensated Care (UCC) for purposes of calculating DSH
or other allowable uncompensated care payments. The term of the agreement is through state
fiscal year (SPY) 2024. Under the agreement, the NH Hospitals forgo approximately $28,000,000
of DSH payment for SPY 2018 and 2019, In consideration of the State agreeing to form a pool of
funds to make directed payments or otherwise increase rates to hospitals for SPY 2020 through
2024. The Pederal share of payments to NH Hospitals are contingent upon the receipt of matching
funds from Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) in the covered years. In the event that,
due to changes in federal law, the State is unable to make payments in a way that ensures the
federal matching funds are available, the Parties will meet and confer to negotiate in good faith an
appropriate amendment to this agreemerit consistent with the intent of this agreement. The State
is required to maintain the UCC Dedicated Pund pursuant to earlier agreements. The agreement
prioritizes payments of funds to critical access hospitals at 75% of allowable UCC, the remainder
thereafter is distributed to other NH Hospitals in proportion to their allowable uncompensated care
amounts. During the term of this agreement, the NH Hospitals are barred from bringing a new
claim in federal or state court or at Department of Revenue Administration (DRA) related to the
constitutionality of MET.

During the years ended June 30. 2019 and 2018, the Health System received DSH payments of
approximately, $69,179,000 and $66,383,000 respectively. DSH payments are subject to audit
pursuant to the agreement with the state and therefore, for the years ended June 30, 2019 and
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2018, the Health System recognized as revenue DSN receipts of approximately $64,864,000 and
approximately $54,469,000, respectively.

During the years ended June 30. 2019 and 2018, the Health System recorded State of NH
Medicaid Enhancement Tax ("MET") and State of VT Provider tax of $70,061,000 and
$67,692,000, respectively. The taxes are calculated at 5.5% for NH and 6% for VT of certain net
patient service revenues in accordance with instructions received from the States. The Provider
taxes are included In operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and
changes in net assets.

Impllcit Price Concessions

Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payer contracts are responsible for related co-
pays, co-insurance and deductibles, which vary depending on the contractual obligations of
patients. The Health System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those patients
a discount from standard charges. The Health System estimates the transaction price for patients
with co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles and for those who are uninsured based on historical
collection experience and current market conditions. The discount offered to uninsured patients
reduces the transaction price at the time of billing. The uninsured and patient responsible
accounts, net of discounts recorded, are further reduced through implicit price concessions based
on historical collection trends for similar accounts and other known factors that impact the
estimation process. Subsequent changes to the estimate of transaction price are generally
recorded as adjustments to net patient service revenue in the period of change.

The implicit price concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference
between amounts billed to patients and the amounts the Health System expects to collect based on
collection history with similar patients. Although outcomes vary, the Health System's policy is to
attempt to collect amounts due from patients, including co-pays, co-insurance and deductibles due
from insurance at the time of service while complying with all federal and state statutes and
regulations, including but not limited to, the Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act
(EMTAI_A). Through various systems and processes the Health System estimates Medicare and
Medicaid net patient service revenue and cost report settlements and accrues final expected
settlements. For filed cost reports, the accrual is recorded based on those filings, subsequent
activity, and on historical trends and other relevant evidence. For periods in which a cost report is
yet to be filed, accruals are based on estimates of what is expected to be reported, and any trends
and relevant evidence. Cost reports generally must be filed within five months of the closing
period.

Settlements with third-party payers for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or
investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the
estimated transaction price for providing patient care using the most likely amount. These
settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with the payer,
correspondence from the payer and historical settlement activity, including assessments to ensure
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is' subsequently resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years
are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews or investigations. As of June 30, 2019
and 2018, the Health System had $52,470,000 and $52,041,000, respectively, reserved for
estimated third-party settlements.

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, additional increases (decreases) in revenue of
$1,800,000 and ($5,604,000), respectively, was recognized due to changes in its prior years
related to estimated third-party settlements.
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Net operating revenues for the hospital operations of the PPS and CAM, and other business
segments consist primarily of patient service revenues, principally for patients covered by
Medicare, Medicaid, managed care and other health plans as well as patients covered under the
Health System's uninsured discount and charity care programs.

The table below shows the Health System's sources of net operating revenues presented at the net
transaction price for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018.

2019

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAM Total

Hospital

Medicare $ 456,197 $ 72,193 $ 528,390
Medicaid 134,727 12,794 147,521

Commercial 746,647 64,981 811,628
SelfPay 8,811 2,313 11,124

Subtotal 1,346.382 152,281 1.498.663

Professional

Professional 454,425 23,707 478,132
VNH 22,528
Other Revenue 285,715

Total operating revenue and
other support $ 1,800,807 $ 175,988 $ 2,285,038

2018

(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAM Total

Hospital
Medicare $ 432,251 $ 76,522 $ 508,773

. Medicaid 117,019 10,017 127,036
Commercial 677,162 65,916 743,078
SelfPay 10,687 2^ 12,814

Subtotal 1,237,119 154,582 1,391,701

Professional

Professional 412,605 24,703 437,308
VNH 22,719

Other Revenue 203,915
Total operating revenue and
other support $ 1,649,724 $ 179,285 $ 2,055,643
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Accounts Receivable

The principal components of patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 are as
follows;

2019 2018

(in thousands of dollars)

Patient accounts reclvable $ 221,125 $ 351,456

Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (132,228)
Patient accounts receivable $ 221,125 $ 219,228

The following table categorizes payors into four groups based on their respective percentages of
gross patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2019 and 2018:

2019 2018

Medicare 34% 34%

Medicaid 12% 14%

Commercial 41% 40%

Self Pay 13% 12%
Patient accounts receivable 100% 100%
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5. Investments

The composition of investments at June 30, 2019 and 2018 is set forth in the following table:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Assets limited as to use

Internally designated by board

Cash and short-term investments $  21,890 SE  8,558

U.S. government securities 91,492 50,484

Domestic corporate debt securities 196,132 109,240

Global debt securities 83,580 110,944

Domestic equities 167,384 142,796

International equities 128,909 106,668

Emerging markets equities 23,086 23,562

Real Estate Investment Trust 213 816

Private equity funds 64,563 50,415

Hedge funds 32,287 32,831

809,536 636,314

Investments held by captive insurance companies (Note 12)
U.S. government securities 23,241 30,581

Domestic corporate debt securities 11,378 16,764

Global debt securities 10,080 4,513

Domestic equities 14,617 8,109

International equities 6,766 7,971

66,082 67,938

Held by trustee under Indenture agreement (Note 10)
Cash and short-term investments 631 1,872

Total assets limited as to use 876,249 706,124

Other investments for restricted activities

Cash and short-term investments 6,113 4,952

U.S. government securities 32,479 28,220

Domestic corporate debt securities 29,089 29,031

Global debt securities 11,263 14,641

Domestic equities 20,981 20,509

International equities 15,531 17,521

Emerging markets equities 2,578 2,155

Real Estate Investment Trust - 954

Private equity funds 7,638 4,878

Hedge funds 8,414 8,004

Other 33 31

Total other investments for restricted activities 134,119 130,896

Total investments $  1,010,368 3;  837,020
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Investments are accounted for using either the fair value method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case by case basis. The fair value method is used for all debt securities and
equity securities that are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily
available in those markets. The equity method is used when investments are made in
pooled/commingled investment funds that represent investments where shares or units are owned
of pooled funds rather than the underlying securities in that fund. These pooled/commingled funds
make underlying investments in securities from the asset classes listed above. All investments,
whether the fair value or equity method of accounting is used, are reported at what the Health
System believes to be the amount that the Health System would expect to receive if it liquidated its
investments at the balance sheets date on a non-distressed basis.

The following tables summarize the investments by the accounting method utilized, as of June 30,
2019 and 2018. Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those
securities accounted for using the fair value method, as shown In Note 7.

2019

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Equity Total

Cash and short-term investments $  28,634 gi  - $ 28,634
U.S. government securities 147,212 - 147,212
Domestic corporate debt securities 164,996 71,603 236,599
Global debt securities 55,520 49,403 104,923
Domestic equities 178,720 24,262 202,982
International equities 76,328 74,878 151,206
Emerging markets equities 1,295 24,369 25,664
Real Estate Investment Trust 213 . 213

Private equity funds - 72,201 72,201
Hedge funds - 40,701 40,701
Other 33 - 33

S  652,951 S1  357,417 $ 1,010,368

2018

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Equity Total
1

Cash and short-term investments S  15,382 J;  - $ 15,382
U.S. government securities 109,285 - 109,285
Domestic corporate debt securities 95,481 59,554 155,035
Global debt securities 49,104 80,994 130,098
Domestic equities 157,011 14,403 171,414
International equities 60,002 72,158 132,160
Emerging markets equities 1,296 24,421 25,717
Real Estate Investment Trust 222 1,548 1,770
Private equity funds - 55,293 55,293
Hedge funds - 40,835 40,835
Other 31 - 31

S  487,814 $ 349,206 $ 837,020
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Investment income is comprised of the following for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Net assets without donor restrictions

interest and dividend income, net $  11,333 $ 12,324
Net realized gains on sales of securities 17,419 24,411
Change in net unrealized gains on investments 12,283 4,612

41,035 41,347

Net assets with donor restrictions

Interest and dividend income, net 987 1,526
Net realized gains on sales of securities 2,603 1,438
Change in net unrealized gains on investments (908) 1,390

2,682 4,354

$  43,717 $ 45,701

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 investment income Is reflected in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as operating revenue of
approximately $983,000 and $960,000 and as non-operating gains of approximately $40,052,000
and $40,387,000, respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner, but can be sold to third party buyers In private transactions that typically can be completed
in approximately 90 days. It is the intent of the Health System to hold these investments until the
fund has fully distributed all proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership
agreement expires. Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to
contribute a specified level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30, 2019 and
2018, the Health System has committed to contribute approximately $164,319,000 and
$137,219,000 to such funds, of which the Health System has contributed approximately
$109,584,000 and $91,942,000 and has outstanding commitments of $54,735,000 and
$45,277,000, respectively.
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6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are summarized as follows at June 30, 2019 and 2018:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Land $  38,232 $  38,058

Land improvements 42,607 42,295

Buildings and improvements 898,050 876,537

Equipment 888,138 818,902

Equipment under capital leases 15,809 20,966

1,882,836 1,796,758

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization 1,276,746 1,200,549

Total depreciable assets, net 606,090 596,209

Construction in progress 15,166 11,112

$  621,256 $  607,321

As of June 30, 2019, construction in progress primarily consists of an addition to the ambulatory
surgical center located in Manchester, NH as well as renovations taking place at the various
pharmacy locations to bring their facilities compliant with Regulation USP800. The estimated cost
to complete the ambulatory surgical center at June 30, 2019 is approximately $59,000,000 over the
next two fiscal years while the pharmacy renovation is estimated to cost approximately $6,300,000
over the next fiscal year.

The construction in progress reported as of June 30, 2018 for the building renovations taking place
at the birthing pavilion in Lebanon, NH was completed during the first quarter of fiscal year 2019
and the information systems PeopleSoft project for Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital and Cheshire
was completed in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019.

Depreciation and amortization expense included in operating and non-operating activities was
approximately $88,496,000 and $84,729,000 for 2019 and 2018, respectively.

7. Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis:

Cash and Short-Term Investments

Consists of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the financial
institution.

Domestic, Emerging Markets and International Equities
Consists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price
reported on an active market on which the individual securities are traded (Level 1 measurements).
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U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities
Consists of U.S. government securities, domestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, if necessary, matrix pricing from a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are based
on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities, rather than on specific
bids and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds are measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of business in the respective active market (Level 1 measurements).

The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, although the Health System
believes Its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the
use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial
instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.

Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The following tables set forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2019 and 2018;

2019

Redemption Days'
On thousands of dotars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 ToUl or Liquidation Notice

Assets

Investments

Cash and short term investments S  26,634 S •  S -  $ 28,634 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 147,212 . 147,212 Daily
Domestic corporate debt securities 34,723 130.273 164,996 Daily-44onthly 1-15

Global debt securities 28.412 27.108 55,520 Daity-Monthiy 1-15

Domestic equities 171,318 7.402 178.720 Daily-Monthly 1-10

International equities 76.295 33 76,328 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities 1.295 - 1,295 Daily-Monthly 1-7

Real estate investment trust 213 - 213 Daily-Monthly 1-7

Other
•

33 33 Not a(^icable Not applicable

Total investments 488,102 164,849 652.951

Deferred compensation plan assets
Cash and short-term investments 2,952 . 2.952
U.S. government securities 45 . 45

Domestic corporate debt securities 4,932 - 4,932
Global debt securities 1,300 1,300
Domestic equities 22,403 - 22,403

International equities 3,576 - 3,576
Emerging market equities 27 - 27

Real estate 11 . 11

Multi strategy fund 48.941 . 48,941

Guaranteed contract - 89 89

Total deferred compensation
plan assets 84.187

• 89 84.276 Not applicable Not applicable

Beneficial interest in trusts
• -

9,301 6.301 Not applicable Not applicable

Total assets $  572,289 $ 164,849 i 9,390 S 746.528
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2016

Redemption Days'
On thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice

Assets

Investtnents

Cash and short term investments $ 15.362 6 •  S $  15,382 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 109,285 - 109,285 Daily 1

Domestic corporate debt securities 41.466 53,993 95.481 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities 32.674 16,230 49,104 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 157.011 - 157,011, Daily-Monthly 1-10

Intemational equities 59.924 78 60,002 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities 1.296 - 1,296 Daily^onthly 1-7
Reel estate investment trust 222 - 222 Daily-Monthly 1-7

Other ■
- 31 31 Not applicable Not applicable

Total investments 417.482 70,332 487,814

Deferred compensation plan assets
Cash and short-term investments 2.637 2,637

U.S. government securities 38 38

Domestic corporate debt securities 3,749 3,749

Global debt securities 1,069 1,089

Domestic equities 18,470 18,470

Intemational equities 3,584 3,584

Emerging market equities 28 28

Real estate 9 9

Mulli strategy fund 46,660 46,680

Guaranteed contract - 66 86

Total deferred compensation
plan assets 76,264 86 76,370 Not applicable Not applicable

Beneficial interest in trusts
- 9,374 9,374 Not applicable Not applicable

Total assets $ 493,766 $ 70,332 S 9,460 S  573,558

The following table is a rollforward of financial instruments classified by the Health System within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy defined above.

2019

Beneficial

Interest in

Perpetual Guaranteed

(in thousands of dollars) Trust Contract Total

Balances at beginning of year $  9,374 $ 86 $  9,460

Net unrealized gains (losses) (73) 3 (70)

Balances at end of year $  9,301 $ 89 $  9,390

2018

Beneficial

Interest in

Perpetual Guaranteed

(in thousands of dollars) Trust Contract Total

Balances at beginning of year $  9,244 $ 83 $  9,327

Net unrealized gains 130 3 133

Balances at end of year $  9,374 $ 86 $  9,460
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There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018.

8. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30. 2019 and
2018;

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Healthcare services $ 20,140 $ 19,570
Research 26,496 24,732
Purchase of equipment 3,273 3,068
Charity care 12,494 13,667
Health education 19,833 18,429
Other 3,841 . 2,973
Investments held in perpetuity 56,383 55,394

$  142,460 $ 137,833

Income earned on donor restricted net assets held in perpetuity is available for these purposes.

9. Board Designated and Endowment Funds

Net assets include numerous funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-
restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as
endowments. Net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the
Board of Trustees to function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence
or absence of donor-imposed restrictions;

The Board of Trustees has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the preservation of
the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. The Health System's net assets with donor restrictions which
are to be held in perpetuity consist of (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent
endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to be held in perpetuity, and (c)
accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the
applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund, if any.
Collectively these amounts are referred to as the historic dollar value of the fund.
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Net assets without donor restrictions include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function
as endowments and the income from certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any
accumulated investment return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on
trustee or management designation. Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in
nature, either restricted by time or purpose, include funds appropriated for expenditure pursuant to
endowment and investment spending policies, certain expendatjie endowment gifts from donors,
and any retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted endowment funds, which are
restricted by the donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the restrictions on these funds have
been met, the funds are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

In accordance with the Act, the Health System considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and
the appreciation of investments; other resources available; and investment policies.

The Health System has endowment investment and spending policies that attempt to provide a
predictable stream of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the
purchasing power does not decline over time. The Health System targets a diversified asset
allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic and international equities, fixed
income, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints. The Health System's Investment Committee reviews the policy portfolio
asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and
duration for which the endovmient is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift
instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment

funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market losses were not material as of
June 30, 2019 and 2018.

Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following at June 30, 2019 and
2018:

2019

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  78,268 $ 78,268

Board-designated endowment funds 31,421 - 31,421

Total endowed net assets $  31,421 $  78,268 $ 109,689
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2018

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  78,197 $ 78,197

Board-designated endowment funds 29,506 - 29,506

Total endowed net assets $  29.506 $  78,197 $ 107,703

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 are s

2019

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Balances at beginning of year $  29,506 $  78,197 $ ,107,703

Net investment return 1,184 2,491 3,675

Contributions 804 1,222 2,026

Transfers (73) (1.287) (1,360)

Release of appropriated funds - (2,355) (2,355)

Balances at end of year $  31,421 $  78,268 $ 109,689

2018

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Balances at beginning of year $  26,389 $  75,457 $ 101,846

Net investment return 3,112 4,246 7,358

Contributions - 1,121 1,121

Transfers 5 (35) (30)
Release of appropriated funds - (2,592) (2,592)

Balances at end of year $  29,506 $  78,197 $ 107,703
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10. Long-Term Debt

A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Variable rate Issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities

Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds

Series 2018A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2037 (1) $  83,355 3i  83,355

Fixed rate issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities

Authority Revenue Bonds

Series 2018B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2048 (1) 303,102 303,102

Series 2017A. principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2040 (2) 122,435 122,435
Series 2017B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (2) 109,800 109,800
Series 2014A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2022 (3) 26,960 26,960
Series 2018C, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2030 (4) 25,865 -

Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through July 2039 (5) 25,145 25,955

Series 2014B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2033 (3) 14,530 14,530
Series 2016B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2045 (6) 10,970 10,970

Total variable and fixed rate debt $  722,162 $ 697,107
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A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2019 and 2018 is as follows (continued):

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Other

Series 2010, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2040 (7)* $  - $ 15,498
Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free
monthly installments through July 2015;
collateralized by associated equipment* 445 646

Note payable to a financial institution with entire
principal due June 2029 that is collateralized by land
and building. The note payable is interest free* 323 380

Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture;
monthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375%

through November 2046* 2,629 2,697
Obligations under capital leases 17,526 18,965

Total other debt 20,923 38,186

Total variable and fixed rate debt 722,162 697,107

Total long-term debt 743,085 735,293

Less: Original issue discounts and premiums, net (25,542) (26,862)
Bond issuance costs, net 5,533 5,716
Current portion 10,914 3,464

$  752,180 $ 752,975

•Represents nonobligated group bonds

Aggregate annual prihcipal payments required under revenue bond agreements and capital lease
obligations for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019

2020' $ 10,914
2021 10,693
2022 10,843
2023 ' 7,980
2024 3,016
Thereafter 699,639

$  743,085

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Bonds

MHMH established the DHOG in 1993 for the original purpose of issuing bonds financed through
NHHEFA or the "Authority". The members of the obligated group consist of D-HH, MHMH, DHC,
Cheshire. NLH, MAHHC, and, effective August 15. 2018, APD. D-HH is designated as the
obligated group agent.
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Revenue Bonds issued by members of the DHOG are administered through notes registered in the
name of the Bond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The

Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
members of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several obligation
of the members of the DHOG (and any other future members of the DHOG) and are equally and
ratably collateralized by a pledge of the members' gross receipts. The DHOG is also subject to
certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt

Service Coverage Ratio (1.10x).

(1) Series 2018A and Series 2018B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A and Series 201 SB in February
2018. The Series 2018A Revenue Bonds were primarily used to refund a portion of Series
2015A and Series 2016A. The Series 2018B were primarily used to refund a portion of Series
2015A and Series 2016A, Revolving Line of Credit, Series 2012 Bank Loan and the Series
2015A and Series 2016A Swap terminations. A loss on the extinguishment of debt of
approximately $578,000 was recognized in non-operating gains (losses) on the statement of
operations and changes in net assets, as a result of the refinancing. The interest on the Series
2018A Revenue Bonds is variable with a current interest rate of 5.00% and matures in variable

amounts through 2037. The interest on the Series 2018B Revenue Bonds is fixed with an
interest rate of 4.18% and matures in variable amounts through 2048.

(2) Series 2017A and Series 2017B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A and Series 2017B in December,
2017. The Series 2017A Revenue Bonds were primarily used to refund Series 2009 and
Series 2010 and the Series 2017B Revenue Bonds were used to refund Series 2012A and

Series 2012B. The interest on the Series 2017A Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate

of 5.00% and matures in variable amounts through 2040. The interest on the Series 2017B .
Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 2.54% and rhatures in variable amounts through
2031.

(3) Series 2014A and Series 2014B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A and Series 2014B in August 2014.
The proceeds from the Series 2014A and 2014B Revenue Bonds were used to partially refund
the Series 2009 Revenue Bonds and to cover cost of issuance. Interest on the 2014A

Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 2.63% and matures at various dates through
2022. Interest on the Series 2014B Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 4.00% and

matures at various dates through 2033.

(4) Series 2018C Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018C in August, 2018. The Series 2018C
Revenue Bonds were used primarily to refinance the Series 2010 Revenue Bonds. The interest
on the series 2018C Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 3.22% and matures in

variable amounts through 2030.

32



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2019 and 2018

(5) Series 2012 Revenue Bonds

The NHHEFA issued $29,650,000 of tax-exempt Revenue Bonds, Series 2012. The proceeds
of these bonds were used to refund 1998 and 2009 Series Bonds, to finance the settlement
cost of the interest rate swap, and to finance the purchase of certain equipment and
renovations. The bonds have fixed Interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% {a net
interest cost of 3.96%), and matures in variable amounts through 2039.

(6) Series 2016B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG Issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B in July 2016 through a private
placement with a financial institution. The Series 20.16B Revenue Bonds were used to finance
2016 projects. The Series 2016B is fixed with an interest rate of 1.78% and matures at various
dates through 2045.

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the OHOG at June 30, 2019 and 2018 approximates
$722,162,000 and $697,107,000, respectively.

Non Obligated Group Bonds

(7) Series 2010 Revenue Bonds

The Business Finance Authority (BFA) of the State of NH issued Revenue Bonds, Series 2010.
Interest is based on an annual percentage rate equal to the sum of (a) 69% of the 1-Month
LIBOR rate plus (b) 1.8975/5. The Health System redeemed these bonds in August 2018.

The Health System Indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other trustee held funds. Trustee held funds of approximately $631,000 and
$1,872,000 at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, are classified as assets limited as to use in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets (Note 5). The debt service reserves are mainly
comprised of escrowed funds'held for future principal and interest payments.

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 interest expense on the Health System's long term
debt is reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets as operating expense of approximately $25,514,000 and $18,822,000 and other non-
operating losses of $3,784,000 and $2,793,000, respectively.

Swap Agreements

The Health System is subject to market risks such as changes in interest rates that arise from
normal business operation. The Health System regularly assesses these risks and has established
business strategies to provide natural offsets, supplemented by the'use of derivative financial
instruments to protect against the adverse effect of these and other market risks. The Health
System has established clear policies, procedures, and internal controls governing the use of
derivatives and does not use them for trading, investment, or other speculative purposes.

As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, there was no liability for interest rate swaps as all remaining swaps
were terminated in February 2018. For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Health System
recognized a non-operating loss due to swap termination of $14,247,000 relating to the swap
termination. The change in fair value during the year ended June 30, 2018 was a decrease of
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$4,897,000. For the year ended June 30, 2018 the Health System recognized a non-operating
gain of $145,000 resulting from hedge ineffectiveness and amortization of frozen swaps.

11. Employee Benefits

All eligible employees of the Health System are covered under various defined benefit and/or
define contribution plans. In addition, certain members provide postretirement medical and life
benefit plans to certain of its active and former employees who meet eligibility requirements. The
postretirement medical and life plans are not funded.

All of the defined benefit plans within the Health System have been frozen and therefore there are
no remaining participants earning benefits in any of the Health System's defined benefit plans.

The Health System continued to execute the settlement of obligations due to retirees in the defined
benefit plans through bulk lump sum offerings or purchases of annuity contracts. The annuity
purchases follow guidelines established by the Department of Labor (DDL). The Health System
anticipates continued consideration and/or implementation of additional settlements over the next
several years.

Defined Benefit Plans

Net periodic pension expense included in employee benefits in the consolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets is comprised of the components listed below for the years
ended June 30, 2019 and 2018;

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Service cost for benefits earned during the year $ 150 $ 150
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 47,814 47,190
Expected return on plan assets {65,270} (64,561)
Net loss amortization 10,357 10.593

Total net periodic perision expense $ (6.949) $ (6,628)

The following assumptions were used to determine net periodic pension expense as of June 30
2019 and 2018:

2019 2018

Discount rate 3.90 % - 4.60% 4.00 % - 4.30 %
Rate of increase in compensation N/A N/A
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.50% 7.50 % - 7.75 %
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The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Health Systen
consolidated financial statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June 30, 2019 and

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Change In benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $  1,087,940 3;  1,122,615
Service cost 150 150

Interest cost 47,814 47,190
Benefits paid (51,263) (47,550)
Expenses paid (170) (172)
Actuarial (gain) loss 93,358 (34,293)
Settlements (42,306) -

Benefit obligation at end of year 1,135,523 1,087,940

Change In plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 884,983 878,701

Actual return on plan assets 85,842 , 33,291
Benefits paid •  (51,263) (47,550)
Expenses paid (170) (172)
Employer contributions 20,631 20,713
Settlements (42,306) -

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 897,717 884,983

Funded status of the plans (237,806) (202,957)

Less: Current portion of liability for pension (46) (45)

Long term portion of liability for pension (237,760) (202,912)

Liability for pension $  (237,806) S1  (202,957)

As of June 30, 2019 and 2018 the liability, for pension Is included in the liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension expense and included in the change in net assets
without donor restrictions include approximately $478,394,000 and $418,971,000 of net actuarial
loss as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The estimated amounts to be amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net periodic
pension expense in fiscal year 2020 for net actuarial losses is $12,032,000.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plans was approximately
$1,135,770,000 and $1,087,991,000 at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The following table sets forth the assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation at June 30,
2019 and 2018:

2019 2018

Discount rate

Rate of increase in compensation
4.20% - 4.50%

N/A

4.20 % - 4.50 %

N/A
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The primary Investment objective for the Plan's assets is to support the Pension liabilities of the
Pension Plans for Employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital appreciation and
by also using a Liability Driven Investing ("LOr) strategy to partially hedge the impact fluctuating
interest rates have on the value of the Plan's liabilities. As of both June 30, 2019 and 2018, it is
expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately 60% of the interest rate risk associated
v/ith pension liabilities. To achieve the appreciation and hedging objectives, the Plans utilize a
diversified structure of asset classes designed to achieve stated performance objectives measured
on a total return basis, which includes income plus realized and unrealized gains and losses.

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various investments
are as follows;

Range of
Target - Target

Allocations Allocatior

Cash and short-term investments 0-5% 3%

U.S. government securities 0-10 5

Domestic debt securities 20-58 38

Global debt securities 6-26 8

Domestic equities 5-35 19

International equities 5-15 11

Emerging market equities 3-13 5

Real estate investment trust funds 0-5 0

Private equity funds 0-5 0

Hedge funds 5-18 11

To the extent an asset class falls outside of its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
shall determine appropriate steps, as it deems necessary, to rebalance the asset class.

The Boards of Trustees of the Health System, as Plan Sponsors, oversee the design, structure,
and prudent professional management of the Health System's Plans' assets, in accordance with
Board approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities and authorities and more specifically the
following:

•  Establishing and modifying asset class targets with Board approved policy ranges,

•  Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures,

•  Hiring and terminating investment managers, and

•  Monitoring performance of the investment managers, custodians and investment consultants.

The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans' assets are the
same as outlined in Note 7. In addition, the estimation of fair value of investments in private equity
and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinable value is
made using the NAV per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient. The Health System's
Plans own interests in these funds rather than in securities underlying each fund and, therefore, are
generally required to consider such investments as Level 2 or 3, even though the underlying
securities may not be difficult to value or may be readily marketable.
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The following table sets forth the Health System's Plans' investments and deferred compensation
plan assets that were accounted for at fair value as of June 30, 2019 and 2018:

2019

Redemption Days'
(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice

investments

Cash and short>term investments $  166 $  18,232 $ . $  18.398 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 48.580 - 48.580 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 122.178 273,424 - 395.602 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities 428 75,146 - 75.574 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 159,259 18,316 - 177.575 Daily-Monthly 1-10

Intemational equities 17.232 77.146 - 94.378 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities 321 39.902 - 40.223 Daily-Monthly 1-17

REIT funds "357 2.883 • 3.240 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds - - 21 21 See Note 7 See Note

Hedge funds • - 44.126 44,126 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Tola! investments S 348,521 $ 505,049 $ 44,147 $ 897,717

2018

Redemption Days'
(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice

Investments

Cash and short-term investments S  142 $  35.817 $ - S  35,959 Daily 1

U.S. government securities 46.265 - - 46,265 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 144,131 220,202 - 364,333 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities 470 74,676 - .75,146 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 158,634 17.594 - 176,228 Daily-Monthly 1-10

Intemational equities' 18.656 80.803 - 99,459 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities 382 39.681 - 40,263 Daily-Monthly 1-17

REIT funds 371 2,686 - 3.057 Dally-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds - - 23 23 See Note 7 See Note

Hedge funds
• - 44.250 44.250 Quarterty-Annual 60-96

Total investments $ 369,051 $ 471,659 $ 44,273 $ 884,983

The following table presents additional information about the changes in Level 3 assets measured
at fair value for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

2019

Private

(ir) thousands of dollars) Hedge Funds Equity Funds Total

Balances at beginning of year $  44,250 $ 23 $  44,273
Net unrealized losses (124) (2) (126)

Balances at end of year $  44,126 $ 21 $  44,147
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2018

Private

(in thousands of dollars) Hedge Funds Equity Funds Total

Balances at beginning of year $  40,507 $  , 96 $ 40,603

Sales - (51) (51)
Net realized losses - (51) (51)
Net unrealized gains 3,743 29 3,772

Balances at end of year $  44,250 $  23 $ 44,273

The total aggregate net unrealized gains (losses) included in the fair value of the Level 3
investments as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 were approximately $14,617,000 and $14,743,000,
respectively. There were no transfers into and out of Level 3 measurements during the years
ended June 30, 2019 and 2018.

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018.

The weighted average asset allocation for the Health System's Plans at June 30, 2019 and 2018
by asset category is as follows;

2019 2018

Cash and short-term investments 2% 4%

U.S. government securities 5 5

Domestic debt securities 44 41

Global debt securities 9 9

Domestic equities 20 20

International equities 11 11

Emerging market equities 4 5

Hedge funds 5 5

100% . 100 %

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration
the asset allocation, historical returns on the types of assets held, and the current economic
environment. Based on these factors, it is expected that the pension assets will earn an average of
7.50% per annum.

The Health System is expected to contribute approximately $20,426,000 to the Plans in 2020
however actual contributions may vary from expected amounts.
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The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid for the years ending June.30 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2020 $ 50,743
2021 52,938

2022 55,199
2023 57,562
2024 59,843

2025-2028 326,737

Defined Contribution Plans

The Health System has an employer-sponsored 401 (a) plan for certain of its members, under
which the employer makes base, transition and discretionary match contributions based on
specified percentages of compensation and employee deferral amounts. Total employer
contributions to the plan of approximately $40,537,000 and $38,563,000 in 2019 and 2018,
respectively, are included in employee benefits in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets.

Various 403(b) and tax- sheltered annuity plans are available to employees of the Health System.
Plan specifications vary by member and plan. No employer contributions were made to any of
these plans in 2019 and 2018 respectively.

Postretlrement Medical and Life Benefits

The Health System has postretirement medical and life benefit plans covering certain of its active
and forrher employees. The plans generally provide medical or medical,and life insurance benefits
to certain retired employees who meet eligibility requirements. The plans are hot funded.

Net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit (income) cost is comprised of the components
listed below for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Service cost $ 384 $ 533

Interestcost 1.842 1,712
Net prior service income (5,974) (5,974)
Net loss amortization 10 10

$  (3,738) $ (3,719)
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The following table sets forth the accumulated postretirement medical and life benefit obligation
and amounts recognized in the Health System's consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2019
and 2018:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Change In benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $  42,581 $ 42,277

Service cost 384 533

Interest cost 1,842 1,712

Benefits paid (3,149) (3,174)
Actuarial loss 5,013 1,233

Benefit obligation at end of year 46,671 42,581

Funded status of the plans $  (46,671) $ (42,581)

Current portion of liability for postretirement
medical and life benefits $  (3,422) $ (3,266)
Long term portion of liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits (43,249) (39,315)

Liability for postretirement medical and life benefits $  (46,671) $ (42.581)

As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, the liability for postretirement medical and life benefits is included in
the liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit income and
included in the change in net assets without donor restrictions are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Net prior service income $ (9,556) $ (15,530)
Net actuarial loss 8,386 3,336

$  (1,170) $ (12,194)

The estimated amounts that v/ill be amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net

periodic postretirement income in fiscal year 2020 for net prior service cost is $5,974,000.

The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid for the year ending June 30, 2020 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2020 $ 3,468
202r 3,436
2022 3,394
2023 3,802
2024 3,811
2025-2028 17,253
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In determining the accumulated postretirement medical and life benefit obligation, the Health
System used a discount rate of 3.70% in 2019 and an assumed healthcare cost trend rate of
6.50%, trending down to 5.00% in 2024 and thereafter. Increasing the assumed healthcare cost
trend rates by one percentage point in each year would increase the accumulated postretirement
medical benefit obligation as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 by $1,601,000 and $1,088,000 and the
net periodic postretirement medical benefit cost for the years then ended by $77,000 and $81,000,
respectively. Decreasing the assumed healthcare cost trend rates by one percentage point in each
year would decrease the accumulated postretirement medical benefit obligation as of June 30,
2019 and 2018 by $1,452,000 and $996,000 and the net periodic postretirement medical benefit
cost for the years then ended by $71,000 and $72,000, respectively.

12. Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, along with Dartmouth College,
Cheshire Medical Center, The New London Hospital Association. Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health
Center, and the Visiting Nurse and Hospice for VHT and NH are provided professional and general
liability insurance on a claims-made basis through Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
(RRG), a VT captive insurance company. Effective November 1, 2018 Alice Peck Day Memorial
Hospital is provided professional and general liability insurance coverage through RRG. RRG
reinsures the majority of this risk to Hamden Assurance Company Limited (HAC), a captive
insurance company domiciled in Bermuda and to a variety of commercial reinsurers. Mary
Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, and Dartmouth College have ownership
interests in both HAC and RRG. The insurance program provides coverage to the covered
institutions and named insureds on a modified claims-made basis which means coverage is
triggered when claims are made. Premiums and related insurance deposits are actuarially
determined based on asserted liability claims adjusted for future development. The reserves for
outstanding losses are recorded on an undiscounted basis.

Selected financial data of HAC and RRG, taken from the latest available financial statements at

June 30, 2019 and 2018, are summarized as follows;

2019

HAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets $ 75,867 $ 2,201. $ 78,068

Shareholders'equity 13,620 50 13,670

2018

HAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets $ 72,753 $ 2,068 $ 74,821

Shareholders'equity 13,620 50 13,670
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13. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation
The Health System Is involved in various malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature
considered normal to its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately be
brought to trial. While it is not feasible to predict or determine the outcome of any of these claims,
it is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will not have a material effect
on the consolidated financial position of the Health System.

Operating Leases and Other Commitments
The Health System leases certain facilities and equipment under operating leases with varying
expiration dates. The Health System's rental expense totaled approximately $12,707,000 and
$14,096,000 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Minimum future lease payments under noncancelable operating leases at June 30, 2019 were as
follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2020 $ 11,342
2021 10,469
2022 .. 7.488
2023 6.303
2024 4,127
Thereafter 5,752

45,481

Lines of Credit

The Health System has entered into Loan Agreements v/ith financial institutions establishing
access to revolving loans ranging from $2,000,000 up to $30,000,000. Interest is variable and
determined using LIBOR or the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate. The Loan Agreements are due to
expire March 27, 2020. There was no'outstanding balance under the lines of credit as of June 30,
2019 and 2018. Interest expense was approximately $95,000 and $232,000, respectively, and is
included in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

14. Functional Expenses

Operating expenses are presented by functional classification in accordance with the overall
service missions of the Health System. Each functional classification displays all expenses related
to the underlying operations by natural classification. Salaries, employee benefits, medical supplies
and medications, and purchased services and other expenses are generally considered variable
and are allocated to the mission that best aligns to the type of service provided. Medicaid
enhancement tax is allocated to program services. Interest expense is allocated based on usage of
debt-financed space. Depreciation and amortization is allocated based on square footage and
specific identification of equipment used by department.
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2019:

2019

Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundraising Total

Operating expenses

Salaries $  922,902 $  138,123 $ 1,526 $ 1,062,551
Employee benefits 178.983 72,289 319 251,591
Medical supplies and medications 406,782 1,093 - 407,875
Purchased services and other 212,209 108,783 2,443 323,435

Medicaid enhancement tax 70,061 - - 70,061
Depreciation and amortization 37,528 50,785 101 88,414

Interest 3,360 22,135 19 25,514
Total operating expenses $ 1,831,825 $  393,208 $ 4,408 $ 2,229,441

Operating expenses of the Health System by functional classification are as follows for the year
ended June 30, 2018:

(in thousands of dollars) 2018

Program services $ 1,715,760

Management and general 303,527
Fundraising 2,354

$  2,021,641

15. Liquidity

The Health System is substantially supported by cash generated from operations. In addition, the
Health System holds financial assets for specific purposes which are limited as to use. Thus,
certain financial assets reported on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet may not be
available for general expenditure within one year of the balance sheet date.
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The Health System's financial assets available at June 30, 2019 to meet cash needs for general
expenditures within one year of June 30, 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2019

Cash and cash equivalents $ 143,587

Patient accounts receivable 221,125

Assets limited as to use 876,249

Other investments for restricted activities 134,119

Total financial assets $ 1,375,080

Less: Those unavailable for general expenditure
within one year:
' Investments held by captive insurance companies 66,082
•  Investments for restricted activities 134,119

Other investments with liquidity horizons
greater than one year 97,063

Total financial assets available within one year $ 1,077,816

For the years ending June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, the Health System generated positive cash
flow from operations of approximately $161,853,000 and $136,031,000, respectively. In addition,
the Health System's liquidity management plan includes investing excess daily cash in intermediate
or long term investments based on anticipated liquidity needs. The Health System has an available
line of credit of up to $30,000,000 which it can draw upon as needed to meet its liquidity needs.
See Note 13 for further details on the line of credit.

16. Subsequent Events

The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 26; 2019,
the date the audited consolidated financial statements were issued, and has concluded that there
were no such events that require adjustment to the audited consolidated financial statements or
disclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements other than as noted below.

Effective September 30, 2019, the Boards of Trustees of D-HH, GraniteOne Health, Catholic
Medical Center Health Sen/ices, and their respective member organizations approved a
Combination Agreement to combine their healthcare systems. If regulatory approval of the
transaction Is obtained, the name of the new system will be Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
GraniteOne.

The GraniteOne Health system is comprised of Catholic Medical Center (CMC), a community
hospital located in Manchester NH, Huggins Hospital located in Wolfeboro NH, and Monadnock
Community Hospital located in Peterborough NH. Both Huggins Hospital and Monadnock
Community Hospital are designated as Critical Access Hospitals. GraniteOne is a non-profit,
community based health care system.

On September 13, 2019, the Board of Trustees of D-HH approved the issuance of up to
$100,000,000 par of new debt. On October 17, 2019, D-HH closed on the direct placement tax-
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exempt borrowing of $99,165,000 on behalf of the DHOG acting through the New Hampshire
Health and Education Facilities Authority and issued its DHOG Issue, Series 2019A Bonds.

45



Consolidating Supplemental Information - Unaudited

46



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2019

Oamnoudt OhatMra Alaa Paali 1Maorlandan Ml AsauOiay OH OWIpaM t(lOlharNan- HaaMi

HHaliaaal OarPnawllH Madiad Day HatpHid Haapitiland Oraup OWo Oraup tyataia
ft) Mwtodi e/d3iv*; Haalth WMPMoak Cantor Hamarlal Aaiaaiaaan Haa«hC«iltr OmlnaPana Oubcatd AffHaaM Cllmlnallana CanaaMaaad

AiMta

CvTtnlMMll

Cnn and enh cqiMtnti % a}.aM i 47,469 9 6.411 9 7.066 9 10.462 9  6.972 9 9 129.292 9 16.199 9 9 149.M7
Padam •ecdunit t«caa>Ma, nal 1B0.au 19.660 7.276 6.660 9.010 216.067 l.OM 221.129
Piapaid tiptntaa and oViw curranl aMtts M.I7( 1U.094 6.M9 2.401 9.967 1.429 (74 0691 67.069 1.421 (9.006) 69.469

Total ojnan! H.ew M7.497 99.694 16.746 24.666 14.609 (74.069) 440.U2 22.694 (9.006) 460.207

Aataa bniad •» to uM n.«» U1.4(9 16.796 12.664 12427 11.616 6M.976 96.679 676.246
Nolta laealrM. calaad party SU.a«a 792 1.406 (994.2U) 1.406 (1.406)
Ottar Invoamam lor raoclctad aclvttai II.U2 6.670 91 2679 6.929 106.176 29.640 114.116
Prepany, idard. and adulpmant, nal 23 4»,277 67,147 90.649 41.646 17.767 960.194 91.122 621.2H

Ottar aataa 24.Ha t«.2oa 1.276 19.016 6 042 4.9U (10.6701 146 690 (1.0191 (21.9461 124.471

ToW illra > m.toe a l.MI.Oai 9 126.006 9 76.691 9 66.977 9  94 692 9 (6» 266l 6 2.129.907 9 119.190 9 (24.9991 9 2.216.902

liaWHaa Md Hat Aaaata

Curranl MMaa

Curtam pertlan o< lengdarm daW t a 1220 9 690 9 694 9 947 9  202 9 9 10.616 9 69 9 1 10.614
Cunafd portion a Madly far panaien artd

edtar poasatramani plan Panatta J.4U 9.466 1.466
Aetatnia ppytPla and tecruad tipanaaa Ji.a»9 aa.U4 19.620 6.266 9.676 2.n6 (74.069) 106.679 6.699 (1.006) 119.6)7
Accruad companaapon and rtlatad Panatli I16,6» 9.691 9.664 2.919 4.270 •  126,767 1.641 126.406
Easrnalad nrd-party aaolamania 2«.409 109 1.260 10.691 2.621 41.970 41.970

Total currant latHtaa $S.4M 24a.622 22.404 12.297 17.M6 10.226 (74.069) 262.467 6.666 (1.006) 266,177

Nolaa payicda. lalalaO party 926.202 26.094 (994.2U)
lortg-arm daPI, aidudatg curanc porpon »4].2r 44.920 24.909 99.604 649 11.469 (10.670) 746.922 2.6U 792.160
Inturwica daptada vid idalad Mitaai 96.766 440 919 966 240 U.U7 40 U.407
Uaialay Iw panalon and adiaa poMaditnaM
plan panafta. cieMng currant parpen U6.427 10.262 4.920 261.006 201.006
OtiarPMPaa 66 201 1.104 26 1.U9 100.611 29 216 124 1M

ToamaMAaa e«.7M 1.2ai.0U 96.719 46 U2 46296 29 294 1696 266) 1 462.119 14.609 (9 0091 1.919.606

Camrndflrantc and eandnpanclao

Hat ataan wOiaul donor laavicldna 2«.U2 996.660 69.091 27,699 99.916 21.242 999.176 46 069 (21.906) 996.619
Nat aaaaB aidi donor raavlctiona ta 61.103 6 249 766 4.620 7.4H 110.216 92.262 142.460

Total nal aaaoB 2i.a» 447.669 66 266 26.446 40 1U 26.676 641.964 60.949 (21.946) 702.U9

Tom kaPdewa and nat aaaata t 727.4M t 1.666.041 9 126.006 9 76.691 9 66.977 9  94.692 9 (696.266) 9 2.129.907 9 119.190 9 (24.999) 9 2.216.102
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D-HH Haa«h

and Other 041 and Chaahira and NlJIand MAHHC and APD and VNH and Syatam
(kitxiustndsoldoltn) Subeidttrite Subaidlartaa Subaidliriaa SubaMltrita Subtldlariaa Subtldiariaa Subaidlarlat Eilminatlent Cenaeldttad

1

Currtnl mat*

Cath and caah aquivalaflta $ 42,456 S 48.052 t  11.952 6 11,120 %  8.549 6 15,772 S 5.666 S t 143,567

Patiani account* tacaivabie, nat 180,936' 15.860 6,960 5.060 7.260 3,007 221,125
Prafkak) expanse* and other current asset* 14,17# 139,632 9.460 5.567 1.401 1.678 471 177.0921 95,495

Total currant asset* 56,634 366,622 37.292 25,647 15.010 24.730 9.164 (77,092) 460,207

Assets litniied as to use 92.602 707,597 17.363 12.427 12.736 12.665 20.617 876,249
Note* receivaUa, ratited party 553.484 752 (554.236)
Other feivestmeflt* lor restricted ectivitte* 99,607 24.965 2.973 6.323 31 134,119

Property, ptara, and equipment, net 22 434,953 70.646 42.423 19.435 50.338 3.239 621,256

Other assets 24.664 106,366 7.386 5,476 1.931 6.666 74 (32.316) 124.471

Total asset* I 727,606 5 1.720,297 S  157.694 6 66.946 $  55.437 ( 96.472 6 33.294 6 (663.644) S 2.218,302
tJabUtlea and Net Asseta

Current kabrlities

Currant portion ol long-tarm debt % S 6,226 S  830 $ 547 S  268 6 954 6 69 $ S 10,914
Current portion ol kabday for pension and
other postreiirarTWnt plan benerit* 3,466 3,468
Amunt* paysUa and accrued expenses 55.499 100,441 19.356 3.879 2.656 6,704 2,174 (77.092) 113,617

Accrued compensation and related benefit* 110.639 5,651 2.313 4,314 4,192 1,099 126,408
Estimated thitd>party satdement* • 26.405 103 10.651 2.921 1.290 41,570

Total current kabdlies 55.499 249.179 26.140 17.590 10.379 13.140 3,342 (77,092) 296,177

Notes payable, related party 526.202 26.034 (554.236)
LonfHerm debt, axduding currant portion 643.257 44.620 24,503 643 11,783 35.604 2,560 (10.970) 752.160
Inaurince dtposas and raiatad liabAbes 56.766 440 366 240 513 40 58.407
(Jtbdty lor ponsion and Other posbefitement
plen benefits, excluding current portion 266.427 10,262 4,320 . 281.009
Other kabdoies 98.201 1,115 1.565 23,235 . 124.136

Tote! kabiUiee 698.756 1.241.615 62.460 46.240 26,702 72.492 5,942 (642.2961 1.513.909

Cofflfflaments end contingencies

Net isseti

Net essels without donor restrictions 28.632 379.496 65,673 36,087 21.300 22,327 27,322 (21,306) 559.933
Net assets wUi donor restriction* 16 99.184 29.561 4.619 7,435 1.653 30 (40) 142.460

Total net asseii 26.650 476.662 95.434 40.706 28.735 23.960 27.352 (21.346) 702.393

Total kabHtlat and net etaett S 727,606 6 1,720,297 3  157.894 S 66.946 I  55.437 • 6 96.472 S 33,294 $ (663,644) 6 2.216.302
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Oartmeuffr- ChaahJra Kaw London MLAaeunay OH OMiealad AlOthacNan- Health

Hltehceck Oartmevift- Madieal Heapital Heapital attd Oteup ObSg Oreup Syatam
(In nouuftj) 0/ddri/ Haailh HItehdoek Cantar Aaaaalatien Haalib Cantar EKmlnatlena Subtotal AfflKataa Ulfflinatiena Conaalldatad

AttM

CuntnmM

CmA ind CMh tqiirtltna $  IHS34 5 22.544 $ 6,668 S 9.419 1  6,604 5 5 179.869 t  20,260 6 i  200,169
Pttitnt iccouna n«t 176.961 17,163 6302 5.055 207,521 11.707 219.226
Piapiid (ipcniM ine o(h«i cuntnl m*M ii.«6a 143.693 6.551 5253 2313 172.3611 97.613 4,766 14.677) 97.502

Toulcuritra tuts 146,5M 343.418 30.422 22.974 13,972 (72.361) 485,023 38,753 (4,6n| 516.699

AtMB krulid n te ut* t 616929 17.438 12621 10,629 658,025 46,099 706,124
Not** r»c«)vUlt, riMM party 554,771 (554.771)
OtMf «v«llmtn lor iwtriclM mImPM 67.613 6.591 2961 6,236 105.423 25,473 130,696
Proporty. ptar*. and aqurpmant. nai M 443.154 66.759 42.436 17,356 569.743 37,576 607,321
OStarnsatt 24663 101.076 1.370 5,906 4.260 110.9701 128.527 3.604 121.346) 108.765

Total waat* 5  7»,276 1 1,592,192 124.560 3 87.120 5  52.675 1 (638.102) $ 1.944,741 3  151.507 1 (26,223) $  2070,025

LiabUKIaa and Nat Aaaat*

Cunant laeabaa

Currant portion ol tonp^moabl t } 1,031 610 5 572 1  167 $ 2.600 5  664 6 6  3,464
Currant ponien el labity ler panaien and

ethar poatratiramant plan Oanafta 3.311 3.311 3,311
Aceounta payabia and acctuad aipanaaa 54,995 82,Ml 20,107 6,705 3,029 (72,361) 94,536 6,094 (4.877) 95,753
Accnrad eempanaation and ralatad Oanafaa 106.465 5,730 2,487 3.796 116,496 7,076 125.576
Eatimaiad durd^rty aatSamanta 3.002 24.411 9.655 1.625 36693 2,446 41.141

Total aatantkaodtiaa 57,997 217.299 26,647 19.419 6,637 (72.361) 257.638 16,464 (4,677) 269.245

Netaa payaUa, talaiad party 527,346 27.425 (554,771)
lenp-tarm daCi. aiduding cunani ponion 644,520 52676 25,354 1.179 11,270 (10,970) 724,231 26,744 752975
Inauranca dapoaaa and ralatad 54.616 465 155 240 55476 40 55,516
Lratday lor panaien and otnar poattatiramani
plan bartaSta. aaduding currant ponian 232,696 4,215 5.316 242.227 242,227
OthartaMoaa 65,577 1,107 1.405 88 089 36 66,127

Total iaOittiaa 702,517 1,170.412 57,766 49.583 25,463 (638.102) 1.367,661 45.306 (4,677) 1.406,090

Corruntmonti and eontingeneaa

Nat aaaata

Nat aaaata wthoui donor raattioiona 23,759 334,662 61,626 32,697 19.612 473,178 72,230 (21,306) 524,102
Nat aaaata Mth donor raatnctiena 66.696 4.964 4.640 7.400 103.902 33.971 (40) 137,633

Total not aaaata 23.759 421.760 66.792 37.537 27.212 5n.080 196,201 (21.346) 661.935

Total kabiUiaa and r>at aaaata $  726.276 1,592.192 124,580 67,t20 i  52.675 5 (638,1021 1,944.741 $  151.507 (26.223) 1  2.070,025
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CMIH Haalth

and Othar O-Hand Chaahiro and NLH and MAHHC and VNH and Systam
(In ttoustmjs of aottrs) SubsMlarias Subsidiarlas SubsMlarias SubsMlarias Subsidiarlas APD Subsidiarlas EliminatMns Conselldatad

AtfU

Currtnt itt«»

C«»ti «nO cosh oquivoltnts S 1S4.e34 3 23,094 3  6.821 3 9,982 3 8,854 3 12,144 3 5.040 3 3 200,189

Paiioni accounts racafviMt. t>«l • 178.981 17.183 8.302 5,109 7,998 3.857 219,228

Prtpaid sxpansos and oth«( currant assats 11.904 144.755 5.520 5,278 2.294 4.443 488 f77.238) 97,502

Total cunant assats 140.S9I 344.830 31.324 23.500 14.057 24,583 9.185 (77,238) 516,899

Assats Imrtad as to usa a 035,026 17.438 12.821 11,882 9,612 19.355 706,124

Notas racaivaMa. raiatad patty S54.77t (554,771)

OOiar invastmants for lastrtaad acttvtias 95,772 25.873 2.981 0,238 32 130,898

Proparty, plani. artd aquipmani. nat 36 445.829 70.807 42.920 19,085- 25,725 3.139 807,321

Oihar assats 24.809 101,235 7.528 5.333 1,888 130 128 (32.310) 108.785

Total assats I 728.278 3 1.822,094 3  152.708 3 87.815 3 53,108 3 00,082 3 31.807 3 (804,325) 3 2.070,025

UaMiiias artd Nat Assau

Currant kabittlas

Currant portion el lono^ann dabt I 3 1.031 3  810 3 572 3 245 3 739 3 67 3 3 3,484

Currant portion of iaSiUy lor panslon and
othar postratlramant plan banallts . 3.311 3,311

Accounts payaUa and accruad axpansas S4.99S 82.013 20.052 8.714 3,092 3,596 1.929 (77,238) 95,753
Accruad compansatlon and ralaiad banaiits 100.465 5.730 2.487 3,831 5,814 1,229 125.578

Estimatad third-patty sattlamants 3.002 24.411 9.855 1,825 2.448 . 41.141

Total currant tiHUias 57.997 217,851 28.592 19,428 8,793 12.597 3,225 (77,238) 289.245

Notas paytMa, raiatad party 527.348 27.425 . (554,771)
lonp-totm daU, axcfcidlno currant portion 044.520 52,876 25.354 1,179 11,593 25.792 2,829 (10,070) 752.975

Insitfanca daposas and rataiad labiitias 54.816 485 155 241 39 55.518

Lisbilty lor pansion and othar postratlramant
ptan banadts, ascludino currant portion 232.898 4.215 5,310 •  242J27

Othar labiitias 85.577 1.117 1.405 28 88.127

Total labiitias 702.517 1.170.984 57.743 49.592 25,943 38.417 5.893 (842.9791 1,408.090

Commlimants and contingancias

Nat assats

Nat assats without donor rastrictlons 23.759 350.518 05,089 33.383 19,704 21.031 25,884 (21.300) 524.102

Nat assats with donor rasutctions 95J12 29.950 4.840 7.401 834 30 (40) 137.833

Total nat assats 23.759 451.730 95.025 38.023 27.185 21.885 25.914 (21.340) 881.935

Total labiiiiai and nat assats $ 728.270 3 1.622.894 3  152.788 3 87.815 3 53,108 3 60.082 3 31.807 3 (804,325) 3 2.070.025
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Otio «riirioM nM MMn
Oanpt n iiVka gn nwM ra*
CMfV* in MM Mtu Ol fttlM flM MM

IrxiMM n nn mutt aca* Ocncr nnimw

OiBiiMia CMiMrg 1 Mnaat laaLandaa M. AjmPltT ONOtOfagd AiOdaa Ian- Haaut

KMhdMl OaraneMh- Miaid 047 BMpta HaiaU and OM<a» OidgOraaa tyaam

^ KuMnM g/dsi<r4 HaiMt Hnaiigil C«<4a> •lamadjl Atiadalaa Haancamai BMMiOeni iut4a4a *MaM IMnaiaM OantaHaM

OparMnt wmm m4 MHgi mpg»rt
PMwn Mfvc* tMraa I t  I.S80.SS2 t  2202SS 3 80.704 1  80,188 1  48020 1 3  1,978,798 1  22.527 1 i  1909321

CorVKlM rtwM soil 1«.081 358 5.902 (48.1133) 74,219 790 8 75,017

OM MtrMriB iMM 71,128 188.8S2 3.407 1,748 4.281 2260 (22.076) 197,809 13398 (297) 210.898

N« MMU igltwM kMi twiaoM 3W 11.888 732 137 177 24 12995 1 110 14.106

Tail epaMrg imtw md effm nccen 28908 1.888011 224.740 71 879 84 804 54 244 188 1781 2,281.619 37.613 (2901 2299.143

Opvaktf (IpMHI
888J11 )07.ri 37,287 »,S40 28.514 (24.882) 1.045.880 15.785 l,IC8 1.062551

208^48 24.228 6.484 8.434 8.988 (3.783) 247,882 3 842 287 251501

IMcM afplM and macaboM ».2D1 34 331 8 834 8298 3.032 406.498 1,379 407.875

^fcnaaad MTMcaa Md ana 11.388 242.108 38088 18 388 13,529 13 950 (21,178) 310.170 14.887 <1.822] 323 435

KMciM aMmoMrl la> 84084 IOCS 3082 2204 1,778 70,001 70001

DnracMon and amenoiagn 1< 8034} 7,077 23CS 3.015 2.380 85914 2500 88.414

Maia jDsn 21888 1053 1 180 1 119 225 (208S3I 24 981 533 25514

Tea epeiaie eiTdnMa HOST 1.818 848 218.350 74220 83107 84 828 (704711 2,190944 38.726 (2201 2229 441

(9S«») 80188 8 308 OS50) 1407 1582) 2 205 70875 (913) (801 89 702

aen apaaiin iiJni (laisai)
Inmaniai kom gdim), M j.ajs 32.103 227 480 834 823 (198) 38,on 1,975 40052

OCw (loaaat) ravna, na 0784) 1.888 (187) » (240) 279 (2,«I7) (4.413) 791 80 (3 582)
LOM gn gartit aikigghmag a MM (87) (87) (87)

Um g« leae •afWeben

Tgia na<vgpaair« gang (laniil. na 148 33 770 40 412 504 902 (2 205) 53577 2786 80 38 403

(OglcMnty) gigggg a tgvanig aw aipaimM (8.41)4) 102.044 8.430 ai38) 2801 320 1(M.a3 1,853 108,105

■a atMli nrKhaw danai laaMBani
Na aMMi tMiiil irgiB rtaneang 410 588 402 318 1,704 85 1,789
OwiM in MM aaaia a pgngign and gM
gagMfgogn ggngSg (88.005) (2.720) 882 (72043) (72043)
Ha gaai aanaaiM M (tan) MMm 10.477 (18,380) 1,830 8,780 128 no 5,054 (S.ce4)
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Haalih

andOthai 0-HMd ChaahUa and NLKand HAHHCand APOand VNHand Syaaavn
fin ihouundt oldctirti Subaldlarlaa Subtldiaiiaa 8ubaidlarlaa 6ubaidlartaa Subaldlarlaa Subaldlarlaa SubaWiariaa EBmlnatlena Cenaebdaiad

OpMttlng (•VMM Md otMi tupped
Pt&Ml MTvlc* r«v«nu« 3  t,580.552 8  220.254 $  60.166 8  46,029 8  69.794 8  22.528 8 8  1.999.323

ComraclM rtvMu* S.OlO 109,842 355 5,902 (46.092) 75,017
Oihw epwKing (pvtnu* 21.128 188,775 3,549 4.260 3.868 10.951 540 (22,373) 210,698
N« MMa (Mntd itMl (MirteUont 371 12.937 732 177 26 162 14.105

Total ooaraBnt ravanua and otnar wppoR 28.808 1.891.806 224.890 64.603 55 825 80.907 23 068 (88 4651 2299.143

Opaiatint axpanaaa
Satarta* 868,311 107,706 30,549 27.319 40.731 11,511 (23.576) 1.062,551
EmpMyM eonafo 208,346 24,235 5.434 7,133 7,218 2.701 (3.476) 251,591
Miaical Mppkai and madmiiors 354,201 34.331 6.298 3,035 8,639 1.371 407,875
Purtnaaad tarrica* and othar 11,368 246.101 35.396 13,390 14,371 18.172 7,437 (22.798) 323.435
Uadietid tAhaneafflani lai 54.954 8.005 2264 1,776 3,062 70,061
DaptacMon and amodtiaUon 14 69,343 8,125 3,920 2478 4.194 340 88.414
\fuim 2Q.678 21.585 1,054 1.119 228 1.637 63 120.850) 25.514

Total eparauig aipaoMt 32,058 1.822.841 218.852 62.974 56 340 83.653 23 423 (70.7001 2.229.441

Opaiatng (Ma) matpin (5.5491 68.965 6.038 1.629 (5151 (2.748) (355) 2,235 69.702

Notxpatattng galna (toaaaa)
Invaatmani Incoima (lotaaa), nai 3.829 33,310 129 785 645 469 983 (198) 40,052
Otnat (lotaaa) Incema. nat (3.784) 1,586 (171) (240) 288 31 765 (2,037) (3,562)
Loia on aaity aitlnguianntani ol data (8?) (87)
l,ota on aw«p tarmaiatien

T otal nen-opaftiing galna (loaaat). nat •145 34.896 (42) 545 933 413 1,748 (2.235) 38.403

(DaAciancy) aicaaa otiavanua evtf trpanaaa (5.404) 103,861 5,998 2.174 418 (2333) 1,393 106,105

Nat aaaati without denei laatiletlena

Nat ataaia lalaaaad tern laatricaona 484 565 402 318 1,769
Changa in lundad atatut ot panaion and othtf
petttauafflani eanatta , (65,005) (7,720) 682 (72,043)
Nat ataaia vanaftrtad to (ton) attlataa 10.477 (16,360) 1.963 128 118 3,629 45

Adddonal ped in eapdal

Otna< changaa in nat aaaata
Changa d (ait vakia on Iniaraat taia awapa
Changa d (undad atatua ol diaiaat rata awapa

Incaaaa in nat aaaata vMthoui dono' raatrictiona 5  5,073 8  22,980 1  804 8  2,704 8  1,536 8  1.296 8  1.438 8 8  35.831
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Dortniouth Chothiro Hon London HLAooutnoy OHOtKoatod MOdiotNorf Hot9»i

MIMhaoek OtmoudH HMpM HoopSalMd Oroup Obig Oroup tjrtloni
tin WeuionJi </ do9r») Hotllh Hdohoooli Conloa AtiailalSn IMdiComor E3iminattont iwttetol Mlitolat CUmlnodent Conieltdewd

Opefodn9 rovonuo mi othof oupport

PoMni lorvico rmnut 9 %  1.475.314 5  216.736 5  60.466 6  52014 i i  1.804.550 3 94.545 8 5  1.899.095
Pioiiteion lot tod dotit 31.358 10.967 1.554 1.440 45319 2048 47.367

Not potort lontco rovonuo 1.443.956 205,768 58,932 50.574 1.759.231 92.497 1.851.728

Conoodod rovonvo (ilM) 97.291 2.169 (42.870) 54.285 716 (32) 54.969
OOwr pporotng rovonuo 9,799 134.461 3,385 4,169 1,814 (10.554) 143.054 6.978 (1.066) 148.946
Not ooooto rotooood from lodrtetono esa 11.609 620 52 44 12.979 482 13.461

ToW oporoOirg ipronuo ond cOror tuppon 1IS2 1.687.313 209.754 63.153 54 601 (53.424) 1.969 549 100.873 (1.1181 2C69.104

Oporottnp oiponioi
Srioriot 806.344 105.607 30,360 24,854 (21,542) 945 623 42.035 1,605 969.263
Etnfloyeo bonoOl 181,833 26.343 7,252 7,000 (5.385) 219.943 10.221 419 2».683
Modcot ogppiiii ond moittotono 299.327 31.293 6.161 3.055 329.836 10.195 340.031
PurMood oonlcoa «id<a>or l.»t 21S.C73 33.065 13.587 13.960 (19.394) 264.800 29,390 (2818) 291,372
Modc^ onTioncomonl IBX 53,044 6.070 2659 1,744 65.517 2,175 67,692
OoproMon and omortntsn 23 66.073 10.217 3.934 20K 82.277 2501 14,778
Inioroot ISM 15.772 1004 961 224 (8 882) 17.783 1.039 18.822

Total epOTMng oiponooo 17.21S 1.627.466 217.599 64.934 52.867 (55.203) 1.924.979 97.556 (7941 2.021.641

Oporatng mor^n (looa) (9.0641 59.847 (7.845) (1.781) 1.734 1.779 44.670 3.117 (3241 47.463

Mon oporotlnp point |looaot|
Invooimort ineonio {ieotot), not (26) 33.628 1.408 1,151 658 (198) 36,821 3.566 40.387
Olhav (lootot) kiconio. not (1.J64) a5997 1.276 266 (1.581) (4.002) 733 361 (2908)
Loot on oorly oitnpulohnwt ol dotat (13.909) (305) (14.214) (14.214)
Lett en onop Wmlnoten 114.2471 (14.247) (14.247)

Total nerxpofiene point (katot). not ri.)90i -  2 873 1.408 2122 1.124 (1.7791 4.358 4 299 361 9.018

lOotdoncr) ecooa al rovonuo o>or aponoot (10.4$4) 62,720 (6.437) 341 2858 49,026 7.416 37 56,481

Not otaott oWtout dtnti lotuMont

Not ataoci rolootod iron rotttiotent 16.038 4 252 16.294 19 16.313
Cnanpt in fwndod Mbjt ol pontlon «id eCiot

pooMttomoni tonofti 4.3CO 2827 1,127 6.254 6 254

Not ottos ■tntlonod S (Irem) aAStlat 17.791 (23,355) 7,188 48 328

MdeontI paid In ctprtS 58 (58)
Other chongot In not ottos (185) (185)
Cf f 190ungt In Im on Hoiott loM wnpo

Changt ki tundotf oUbn «l Into'Ott^W* n>w*

IncfMM In not outti Mtnoul donst rooWcaont

ia.102

'.190

I'.tOZ

4.190

J4.102
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D4<H HaNOi
and Ofltar (Ml and Chaahba and NUIand MAHHCand VNHand 8]ritatn

llng)outaMiolOel*ftl •ubaidiariaa Oubaidiariaa Subaidlarlaa •ubaidiariaa SubaUiatiaa APO •ubaidiariaa Elminatletu Conaoldaiad

OpcnUng m«nu* atd ottMr Mippoft
Ptiioil itrviM ((vvw* t 5  1.475.314 5  216,738 5  60.488 5  52,014 5 71.458 5  23,087 5 $  . 1,899.095
AoviiiBn fat bid <Mm 31.358 10,987 1.554 1.440 1.880 388 47.387

Not pitttnt fwica rtvonua 1,443,956 205,769 58.932 50.574 69.778 22,719 1.851.728

Cenbsetad t«v«tw« P.MS) 98,007 2.169 . (42,902) 54.969
OVior »p«r««ig rovonu* «.7S9 137.242 4,061 ■ 4,168 3.168 1.897 453 (11.640) 148.948
Not mM riknad bom ruhcboni •M 11.984 620 52 44 103 13.481

Tetri optibng tMtM and otiar uppot t.isz 1.691,189 210.450 83.150 55.955 71.578 23.172 (54.542) 2.069.104

Opatacbtg oxpanm
Solarin 806.344 105.607 30,380 25.592 29215 12.082 (19.937) 989.263
Efflptojii bonala 181,833 28.343 7,252 7.162 7,408 2053 (4.966) 229083

Modctf tupflia* M madMdotti 289,327 31.293 6,181 3,057 8,484 1.709 340.031
Purctmod Mndcn and othar •.SI2 218,690 33.431 13,432 14,354 19.220 5.945 P2.212) 291,372
Madeaid anhaneotnant lai 53,044 8,070 2,859 1,743 2,178 67.692
Oaptadatian and amortzaton 23 66,073 10.357 3,939 2,145 1,831 410 84.778
tntoraal «.e«4 15,772 1.004 981 223 975 65 (8.882) 18.822

Touf oparadng aipamti 17.219 1.831,083 218.105 84,784 54.276 69,307 22.884 (55.997) 2.021,641

Opatiang (bu) margin I9.0«7) 80,108 P.855) (1,834) 1.679 2271 308 1.455 47,463

Non-oparaling gaina (totaaa)
Invaalmant Ineema (baiaa). nat <2«) 35,177 1.954 1.097 787 203 1,393 (198) 40,387

Ottar Qeaaaa) ineotna, nai (1,384) (2.599) (3) 1276 273 (223) 952 (1.220) P.908)
Lota on aaitir artngubhrnani «f dab) (13,909) (305) (14,214)
Laaa on (wap tanninaaon (14247) (14.247)

Tatil noiv4pata«ng gaina (toaaaa), nai (1.3901 4.422 1.951 2.068 1.060 (20) 2.345 (1,418) 9.018

(OatUancv) axeaaa af ravanua o«at aipanrn (10.457) 64.528 (5,704) 434 2,739 2.251 2,853 37 56,481

Nat aaaaia ariOiout d«n«r raatrfeiiana

Nai aaaata ralaaaad bom tabbfebona 16.058 4 251 16,313
Changa it lundad ataM el panaien and ediof
poababamant benabi 4.300 2,827 1.127 8.254
Nat aaaaia banafanad to (bam) afBaiaa 17.791 (25,355) 7,188 48 328 .

Addbional paid In capital 58 . .  (58)
Obiar changaa In nat aaaata (185) . (185)
Cltanga in lab vakia on Intaraat rata OMOpa 4.190 4.190
Changa in lundad atatua of bnataai rata aM«pa 14.102 14,102

Inctaaa* (daoaaaa) In nat aaaali ndheut donot
laabtcbcna 5  7.392 5  - 77,823 t  4,311 5  488 5  4.445 5 2.068 5  2,853 5  pi) 8  99.155
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Notes to Supplemental Consolidating Information
June 30, 2019 and 2018

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying supplemental consolidating information includes the consolidating balance
sheet and the consolidating statement of operations and changes in net assets without donor
restrictions of D-HH and its subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions between D-
HH and its subsidiaries have been eliminated. The consolidating information presented is prepared
on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America consistent with the consolidated financial statements. The

consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated
financial statements and is not required as part of the basic financial statements.
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APDMH Board ofTrustees
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Members Staff

1  Chair Greg Lange Trustee Kim Carboneau HR Director

2 Vice Chair Marisa Devlin Trustee Peter Glenshaw Vice President, External Affairs

3  Secretary Mike Long Trustee Cindyjerome Lifecare Executive Director

4 Treasurer Brett PelGer Trustee Tracy Mayer Executive Office Manager

5  :Presidents CEO Sue Mooney Ex officio with vote Todd Roberts 'Financial Lead

6  D-HH CEO Designee Mary Oseid :Ex officio with vote Jean Ten Haken COO/CNO

7 ARD Medical Staff President John Houde Ex officio with vote Dale Vidal • Executive Director, MSC

8 APD Chief Medical Officer Michael Lynch Ex officio without vote

9  Lifecare BoT Chair Sara Kobylenski Ex officio with vote* *Limited to votes pertaining to Lifecare

10 Appointed Trustee Clay Adams Trustee

1 1 D-HH Designee George Blike Trustee

12 Appointed Trustee Kyle Fisher Trustee

13 Appointed Trustee Rebecca Holcombe Trustee

14 D-HH Designee PatJordan Trustee

IS D-HH Designee Tina Naimie Trustee

16 Appointed Trustee Ben Riehl Trustee

17 D-HH Designee ^oct Rodi Trustee

18 Appointed Trustee John Scherding Trustee

19 Appointed Trustee Jen Schiffman Trustee

20 Appointed Trustee Charlie Wheelan Trustee

21 D-HH Designee Available Trustee ' i '



Michael Lynch, MD, MBA

lvnchm@apdmh.org

(603) 448-7440

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

ALICE PECK DAY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL, A DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK AFFILIATE,

Lebanon, NH, June 2019 - present

Alice Peck Day is a community hospital that serves Lebanon and surrounding

communities. There is a multispecialty medical office on the grounds of the

hospital. There is an orthopedic and neurosurgical focus on the surgical side and

strong primary care practice for pediatrics, internal medicine and family practice

that serves the Upper Connecticut Valley.

Chief Medical Officer

•  Member of the Senior Leadership Team

•  In charge of rewriting Bylaws and Rules and Regulations

•  Provides oversight of Quality Assurance and Peer Review

•  In charge of implementing integration with Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health including

shared EMR (Epic) and Hospitalist and ED physician integration and expansion of

orthopedic surgery program with Dartmouth orthopedists

Clinical work as Emergency Physician, Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital and per diem

emergency physician. New London Hospital, New London, NH June 2019 - present.

Clinical work as Emergency Physician and Clinical Instructor, The Geisel School of Medicine,

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center, Lebanon, NH September 2019 - present.

Clinical Work as Emergency Physician per diem, Concord Hospital, Concord, NH April - May

2019.

RELIANT MEDICAL GROUP, Worcester, MA, October 2018 - April 2019
The Reliant Medical Group, formally the Fallen Clinic is a 500-provider multispecialty group

providing regional medical care in the greater Worcester and Metrowest area of Boston. It is a

largely capitated reimbursement model. It is the lowest cost provider group in Massachusetts.

Executive Medical Director of Same Day Services

• Worked with primary care physicians to increase collaboration and decrease ED

utilization and hospital admissions and decreasing the total medical expense per

patient.

•  Provided management oversight of high complexity urgent care, ReadyMed Plus, which

has an annual volume of 48,000 and includes a pediatric side, an adult side and an



infusion center. This site also includes high complexity, on-site labs and imaging
including x-ray and cat scan.

Total Annual Volume for Same Day Services is 147,000

Provided management oversight for three other regional urgent cares.
Managed 40 providers and 100 employees at the 4 sites. The infusion Center and

Occupational Health \with 39,000 visits reports through me.
Managed provider ,compensation models, salary negotiations and QA measures.

Managed provider annual reviews

Implemented flow improvements, standardized treatment and diagnostic protocols.
Worked with executive team on strategic planning.

Clinical practice in the high acuity urgent care October 2018 - April 2019.

CONCORD HOSPITAL, CONCORD, NH, 1997-2018
Concord Hospital Is a busy community ED that has grown from a volume of 35,000 In 1997 to an

ED volume of 47,000 plus today with an Urgent Care with a volume of 17,000. It is a Level 2
Trauma Center and has interventional cardiology and is Stroke Certified.

/  •

CHAIR OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE (2003-2005 and 2013-2018)

Worked with hospital leadership to align department goals with institutional strategic
plan.

Worked closely with nursing director and nursing team on dally operations, treatment
protocols and strategy.

Led ED Patient Flow Process Improvement that lead to over 105 minute (33%)
decreased length of stay for patients discharged to home.
Led a CT TAT Process Improvement that resulted in a 20-minute reduction in time from
order to final reading.
Led Urgent Care Patient Flow Improvement to reduce variability, standardize care and
reduce length of stay from 1.9 hours to 1 hour in a moderate complexity urgent care.
Initiated and led care management process to improve coordination and reduce ED

utilization in high utilizer group by 60%.

Led process improvement in patient satisfaction scores moving the scores from 85« to
95-99* Percentile for physicians, the efforts were based on scripting, open-ended
questions, and white boards to give patients a visual understanding of their care.
Helped to lead the ED transition for a systerh-wide Cerner EHR on Dec. 1, 2017.

Led initiation and implementation of ED bedside ultrasound implementation and QA-

MEDICAL DIRECTOR OF URGENT CARE (2013-2018),

Concord Hospital Walk-In Urgent Care

The Medical Director functions within the role of the Chair of Emergency Medicine
as an operational role to develop treatment protocols and to coordinate care with the ED and

primary care practices to streamline care.

CONCORD EMERGENCY MEDICAL ASSOCIATES, CONCORD HOSPITAL,



CONCORD, NH 1997-2018

PRESIDENT (2005-2009)

The President of Concord Emergency Medical Associates is responsible for hiring
for the organization, reviewing and creating the budget with the business manager, and over

site of coding and billing and contractual negotiations.
•  Helped to lead the group in revenue and volume growth over the 4 years.

•  Cultivated growth of patient volume from 35,000 to 60,000 visits and seven physicians

and five physician assistants to fifteen physicians and eleven physician assistants.

•  Led the ED group through 1997 CRT coding transition and ICD-10 transition to improve

the quality of documentation and reimbursement.

VICE PRESIDENT (2000-2005)

The Vice President role is supportive of the President of the group with the associated business

and group management responsibilities. In addition, it involved weekly oversight and review of
documentation and coding and assistance with negotiations and strategy and personnel

management.

EMERGENCY PHYSICIAN (1997-2018)

EMERGENCY PHYSICIAN, SOUTH SHORE HOSPITAL, WEYMOUTH, MA, 1996-

1997.

South Shore hospital is a large community hospital in the Boston suburbs and had an ED volume

of 60,000 in 1997.

MULTISYSTEM AND STATE LEVEL COMMITTEE WORK

Chair of Granite Health Network ED Patient Flow Improvement, Concord, NH

•  A five-hospital affiliation in southern NH. This group creates metrics and common goals
for innovation and best practices that are reported to the CEOs of the five hospitals.

Governor's Task Force to address Mental Health Crisis in the State of NH,

May 2017-Spring of 2018.

•  This group met with the governor and the Head of NH Health and Human Services

Department and included community mental health center directors, and community

mental health advocates.

BOARD SERVICE

Concord Hospital Trust Board Member, 2007 to 2018, Chair 2017-18.



•  Served on inaugural board in 2007; as Secretary, 2013-14; Chair Elect, 2015-16; Chair,

2017-18. The Concord Hospital Trust exists to support the chartable mission of Conocrd
Hospital and the community it serves. The Trust has raised over $31 million since its

inception.

Concord Regional Health Care, Board Member, January 2017 to 2018.

•  A hospital corporation oversight board that coordinates care delivery between Concord
Hospital, the Concord Regional VNA, and Riverbend Community Mental Health
Center. The board's current focus is implementation of the Integrated Delivery Network
and the 1115 Medicaid Waiver to oversee approximately $18 million over ten years to
delivery systems to provide resources for combating the opiold crisis and strengthening
the state's strained mental health system.

Concord Hospital Medical Executive Committee, 2003-2005 and 2013-2018.

•  Maintaining the governance of a diverse medical staff that includes providers from
several independent groups, a large academic affiliated clinic, and employed hospital
providers.

EDUCATION

Brandeis University, Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Physician Executive
MBA, 2017

Residency in Emergency Medicine: Hennepin County Medical Center

Minneapolis, MN 1996

University of Virginia School of Medicine 1993

Society of Academic Emergency Medicine Award

Dartmouth College, BA 1987,

English Honors, Graduated Cum Laude

Southern New Hampshire University, Masters Healthcare Administration Courses

Coursework in: Healthcare Policy and Finance; Healthcare Informatics; Services
Marketing, 2014.

LEADERSHIP TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT



Shingo Learning Group, 2016-present (Selected by COO to study and lead change at

Concord Hospital with other physician leaders.) This group of hospital and physician

leaders is committed .to developing a lean culture and visual management systems.
Managing Organizational Transition, Bridges and Associations, 2016

NH Assoc. of Medical Staff Services, Horty Springer Leadership Retreat, 2014.

Lean Training at Virginia Mason Institute, Seattle, Washington, 2014.

Crucial Conversations, Organizational Development, Concord Hospital, 2014.

LEAN training at Concord Hospital, 2013.

Power and Positive Influence Class, Organizational Development, 2013.

American College of Emergency Physicians Emergency Department Directors Academy,

Phases 1, 2 and 3, Dallas, TX. Phase 4 project completed Nov., 2013.

EMR

•  Trained in Epic and Cerner

PUBLICATIONS

Lynch, MT, Six Things I Wish I'd Known When I Finished Residency, Emergency Physicians
Monthly, November, 2015.

Hick J, Smith S, Lynch MT. Metabolic Acidosis Restraint Associated Cardiac Arrest: A Case

Series. Academic Emergency Medicine. 1999.

Lynch MT, Syverud SA, Schwab RA, Jenkins JM, Edlich R. Comparison of Intraoral and
Percutaneous Approaches for Infraorbital Nerve Block. Academic Emergency Medicine. 1994

Lynch MT, Bellian KT, Edlich RF, Himel HN. Model Rocket Bum Injuries: the Need for
Stricter Regulation. The Journal of Emergency Medicine. 1994

PRESENTATIONS



Concord Hospital Trauma Conference, "Cases That Fooled Me - How We Think and Create
High Quality Healthcare - Checklists, Heuristics and Bias Awareness", June, 2018

Concord Hospital Trust Medical Staff Dinner - The Mission of the Trust in Support of the
Charitable Mission, November 2017

AWARDS

• NH Magazine Top Doctors 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010.
•  Society for Academic Emergency Medicine, Emergency Medicine Award University of

Virginia, 1993

COMMUNITY SERVICE

•  Concord American Little League, Board Member and Safety Officer, 2013-2014.

•  Red River Theater, Fundraiser, 2003.

•  Concord Area United Way Annual Fund committee, 2001.

PROFESSIONAL SOCIETIES

•  American College of Emergency Physicians

•  Fellow American College of Emergency Physicians (FACEP)

•  New Hampshire College of Emergency Physicians

•  Massachusetts Medical Society

PERSONAL PROFILE

I am married to my wife of thirty-one years. She is Dean of Academic Programs and an English
teacher at the Derryfield School. We have four children, ages 27, 25, 20 and 16.
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